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Consolidated Balance Sheet
Fukuoka Financial Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries
As of March 31, 2024 and 2023

2024 2023 2024

Millions of yen Millions of yen
Millions of U.S. 
dollars (Note 2)

Assets

Cash and due from banks (Notes 7, 15 and 17) ¥  8,449,933 ¥  7,713,590 $  55,808

Call loans and bills bought (Note 17) 16,806 18,694 110

Monetary claims bought (Note 17) 41,569 37,297 274

Trading assets 493 1,046 3

Money held in trust (Note 4) 19,253 18,914 127

Securities (Notes 3, 7, 9, 10 and 17) 4,977,523 3,953,472 32,874

Loans and bills discounted (Notes 5, 7 and 17) 18,543,180 17,688,382 122,469

Foreign exchanges (Note 5) 12,309 24,477 81

Lease receivables and lease investment assets 20,725 16,700 136

Other assets (Notes 5 and 7) 380,196 282,968 2,511

Tangible fixed assets (Note 6) 216,108 200,077 1,427

Intangible fixed assets 23,562 17,864 155

Net defined benefit assets (Note 8) 69,884 25,252 461

Deferred tax assets (Note 12) 20,803 52,246 137

Customers’ liabilities for acceptances and guarantees (Notes 5 and 9) 58,306 61,126 385

Allowance for loan losses (Note 5) (200,929) (187,829) (1,327)

Total assets ¥32,649,727 ¥29,924,282 $215,637

Liabilities

Deposits (Notes 7 and 17) ¥21,680,861 ¥20,949,452 $143,193

Call money and bills sold (Note 17) 2,150,000 1,665,800 14,199

Payables under repurchase agreements (Notes 7 and 17) 317,101 433,407 2,094

Cash collateral received for securities lent (Notes 7 and 17) 915,202 680,468 6,044

Trading liabilities — 2 —

Borrowed money (Notes 7 and 17) 6,132,375 4,951,707 40,501

Foreign exchanges 1,906 896 12

Short-term bonds payable 55,800 47,000 368

Other liabilities 287,215 203,259 1,896

Net defined benefit liabilities (Note 8) 1,163 1,146 7

Provision for losses from reimbursement of inactive accounts 4,271 5,107 28

Provision for share awards 325 108 2

Reserves under the special laws 29 24 0

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 12) 553 112 3

Deferred tax liabilities for land revaluation (Note 6) 22,867 22,911 151

Acceptances and guarantees (Note 9) 58,306 61,126 385

Total liabilities ¥31,627,980 ¥29,022,531 $208,889

Net assets

Capital stock ¥     124,799 ¥     124,799 $       824

Capital surplus 143,631 141,281 948

Retained earnings 632,197 591,638 4,175

Treasury stock (5,601) (8,068) (36)

Total shareholders’ equity 895,025 849,650 5,911

Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities (Note 10) 33,469 (4,812) 221

Deferred gains or losses on hedges 20,616 8,412 136

Revaluation reserve for land (Note 6) 51,280 51,382 338

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (Note 8) 19,951 (4,219) 131

Total accumulated other comprehensive income 125,317 50,763 827

Non-controlling interests 1,403 1,337 9

Total net assets ¥  1,021,746 ¥     901,750 $    6,748

Total liabilities and net assets ¥32,649,727 ¥29,924,282 $215,637
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Consolidated Statement of Income
Fukuoka Financial Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023

2024 2023 2024

Millions of yen Millions of yen
Millions of U.S. 
dollars (Note 2)

Income

Interest income:

Interest on loans and discounts ¥179,940 ¥162,250 $1,188

Interest and dividends on securities 85,854 51,618 567

Interest on call loans and bills bought 699 335 4

Interest on receivables under resale agreements (0) (0) (0)

Interest on due from banks 0 0 0

Other interest income 42,151 15,067 278

Trust fees 0 0 0

Fees and commissions 67,722 61,174 447

Trading income 160 652 1

Other operating income 22,176 34,181 146

Other income 28,115 6,270 185

Total income ¥426,822 ¥331,551 $2,818

Expenses

Interest expenses:

Interest on deposits ¥  13,252 ¥    5,928 $     87

Interest on call money and bills sold (669) (538) (4)

Interest on payables under repurchase agreements 5,352 1,774 35

Interest on cash collateral received for securities lent 43,186 16,933 285

Interest on borrowings and rediscounts 5,363 2,355 35

Interest on short-term bonds 28 16 0

Other interest expenses 40,921 18,738 270

Fees and commissions payments 26,441 24,746 174

Other operating expenses 35,867 61,626 236

General and administrative expenses 150,918 140,677 996

Other expenses (Note 11) 28,667 14,050 189

Total expenses ¥349,331 ¥286,310 $2,307

Income before income taxes 77,491 45,240 511

Income taxes: (Note 12)

Current 18,124 8,195 119

Deferred (1,877) 5,759 (12)

Total income taxes 16,246 13,955 107

Net income 61,244 31,285 404

Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 66 132 0

Net income attributable to owners of the parent (Note 13) ¥  61,178 ¥  31,152 $   404
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Fukuoka Financial Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023

2024 2023 2024

Millions of yen Millions of yen
Millions of U.S. 
dollars (Note 2)

Net income ¥  61,244 ¥ 31,285 $404

Other comprehensive income:

Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities 38,281 (54,786) 252

Deferred gains or losses on hedges 12,203 10,263 80

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans 24,170 (2,440) 159

Total other comprehensive income (Note 14) 74,656 (46,963) 493

Comprehensive income ¥135,900 ¥(15,678) $897

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent 135,834 (15,811) 897

Non-controlling interests 66 132 0
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Millions of yen

Shareholders’ equity Accumulated other comprehensive income

Non-
controlling 
interests 

Total net 
assetsCapital  

stock
Capital 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury 
stock

Total  
shareholders’ 

equity

Valuation  
difference  

on available-
for-sale 

securities

Deferred 
gains or 

losses on 
hedges

Revaluation 
reserve for 

land

Remeasurements 
of defined  

benefit plans

Total  
accumulated 

other  
comprehensive 

income

Balance as of March 31, 2022 ¥124,799 ¥141,487 ¥579,369 ¥(2,461) ¥843,195 ¥ 49,973 ¥ (1,850) ¥51,395 ¥ (1,778) ¥  97,739 ¥   131 ¥   941,066

Changes during the period:

Dividends from surplus (18,896) (18,896) (18,896)

Net income attributable to 
owners of the parent 31,152 31,152 31,152

Acquisition of treasury stock (5,607) (5,607) (5,607)

Disposition of treasury stock (0) 0 0 0

Transfer from revaluation 
reserve for land 12 12 12

Capital increase of 
consolidated subsidiaries 28 28 28

Sale of a part of shares of 
consolidated subsidiaries (233) (233) (233)

Net changes of items other 
than shareholders’ equity (54,786) 10,263 (12) (2,440) (46,976) 1,205 (45,771)

Total changes during the period — ¥       (205) ¥  12,268 ¥(5,607) ¥    6,455 ¥(54,786) ¥10,263 ¥      (12) ¥ (2,440) ¥ (46,976) ¥1,205 ¥    (39,315)

Balance as of March 31, 2023 ¥124,799 ¥141,281 ¥591,638 ¥(8,068) ¥849,650 ¥  (4,812) ¥  8,412 ¥51,382 ¥ (4,219) ¥  50,763 ¥1,337 ¥   901,750

Changes during the period:

Increase by stock swap 3,597 3,982 7,579 7,579

Dividends from surplus (20,720) (20,720) (20,720)

Net income attributable to 
owners of the parent 61,178 61,178 61,178

Acquisition of treasury stock (2,795) (2,795) (2,795)

Disposition of treasury stock (1,247) 1,279 31 31

Transfer from revaluation 
reserve for land 101 101 101

Net changes of items other 
than shareholders’ equity 38,281 12,203 (101) 24,170 74,554 66 74,620

Total changes during the period — ¥    2,349 ¥  40,559 ¥ 2,466 ¥  45,375 ¥ 38,281 ¥12,203 ¥    (101) ¥24,170 ¥  74,554 ¥     66 ¥   119,995

Balance as of March 31, 2024 ¥124,799 ¥143,631 ¥632,197 ¥(5,601) ¥895,025 ¥ 33,469 ¥20,616 ¥51,280 ¥19,951 ¥125,317 ¥1,403 ¥1,021,746

Millions of U.S. dollars (Note 2)

Shareholders’ equity Accumulated other comprehensive income

Non-
controlling 
interests 

Total net 
assetsCapital  

stock
Capital  
surplus

Retained  
earnings

Treasury  
stock

Total  
shareholders’  

equity

Valuation  
difference  

on available-
for-sale  

securities

Deferred 
gains or 

losses on 
hedges

Revaluation 
reserve for 

land

Remeasurements 
of defined  

benefit plans

Total  
accumulated 

other  
comprehensive 

income

Balance as of March 31, 2023 $824 $933 $3,907 $(53) $5,611 $ (31) $  55 $339 $ (27) $335 $8 $5,955

Changes during the period:

Increase by stock swap 23 26 50 50

Dividends from surplus (136) (136) (136)
Net income attributable to 

owners of the parent 404 404 404

Acquisition of treasury stock (18) (18) (18)

Disposition of treasury stock (8) 8 0 0

Transfer from revaluation 
reserve for land 0 0 0

Net changes of items other 
than shareholders’ equity 252 80 (0) 159 492 0 492

Total changes during the period — $  15 $   267 $ 16 $   299 $252 $  80 $    0 $159 $492 $0 $   792

Balance as of March 31, 2024 $824 $948 $4,175 $(36) $5,911 $221 $136 $338 $131 $827 $9 $6,748

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Fukuoka Financial Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Fukuoka Financial Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023

2024 2023 2024

Millions of yen Millions of yen
Millions of U.S. 
dollars (Note 2)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Income before income taxes ¥     77,491 ¥     45,240 $     511
Depreciation of fixed assets 12,618 11,957 83
Impairment losses 633 4,639 4
Gain on negative goodwill (21,496) — (141)
Net change in allowance for loan losses 9,864 (11,480) 65
Net change in net defined benefit assets (41,998) 784 (277)
Net change in net defined benefit liabilities 17 (3) (0)
Net change in provision for losses from reimbursement of inactive accounts (866) (946) (5)
Net change in provision for share awards 147 108 0
Interest income (308,645) (229,272) (2,038)
Interest expenses 107,436 45,209 709
Net losses (gains) related to securities transactions 17,254 36,811 113
Net losses (gains) on money held in trust 61 (319) 0
Net exchange losses (gains)  (130) (60) (0)
Net losses (gains) on disposal of noncurrent assets 71 169 0
Net change in trading assets 553 347 3
Net change in trading liabilities (2) (2) 0
Net change in loans and bills discounted (452,691) (984,759) (2,989)
Net change in deposits 202,216 466,462 1,335
Net change in borrowed money (excluding subordinated borrowed money) 1,167,467 1,075,380 7,710
Net change in due from banks (excluding deposits with the Bank of Japan) 776 3,584 5
Net change in call loans (2,383) 1,509 (15)
Net change in call money 367,894 (630,137) 2,429
Net change in cash collateral received for securities lent 234,733 (157,061) 1,550
Net change in foreign exchanges - Assets 12,205 (12,310) 80
Net change in foreign exchanges - Liabilities 1,009 184 6
Net change in lease receivables and lease investment assets (4,025) (1,289) (26)
Net change in short-term bonds payable - Liabilities 8,800 10,000 58
Interest received 315,063 238,834 2,080
Interest paid (99,591) (38,629) (657)
Other, net (127,499) 40,627 (842)
Subtotal 1,476,982 (84,417) 9,754
Income taxes paid (received) 3,896 (26,844) 25
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 1,480,879 (111,261) 9,780

Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for purchases of securities (1,439,411) (1,276,130) (9,506)
Proceeds from sale of securities 302,570 983,877 1,998
Proceeds from redemption of securities 367,622 313,329 2,427
Payments for increase in money held in trust (400) — (2)
Proceeds from decrease in money held in trust — 200 —
Payments for purchases of tangible fixed assets (10,304) (3,538) (68)
Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets 1,841 609 12
Payments for purchases of intangible fixed assets (12,009) (15,264) (79)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (790,090) 3,082 (5,218)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from share issuance to non-controlling interests 0 50 0
Payments for purchases of treasury stock (17) (5,607) (0)
Proceeds from sale of treasury stock 0 0 0
Dividends paid (20,709) (18,890) (136)
Proceeds from sale of shares of subsidiaries not resulting in 
change in scope of consolidation — 715 —

Net cash used in financing activities (20,726) (23,732) (136)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 130 60 0
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 670,192 (131,851) 4,426
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 7,708,412 7,840,263 50,910
Increase in cash and cash equivalents by share exchange 66,572 — 439
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (Note 15) ¥8,445,177 ¥7,708,412 $55,776
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

a. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of 

FFG and its consolidated subsidiaries are prepared in ac-

cordance with accounting principles generally accepted 

in Japan, which are different in certain respects as to ap-

plication and disclosure requirements of International Fi-

nancial Reporting Standards and are compiled from the 

consolidated financial statements prepared by FFG as re-

quired under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act 

of Japan.

As permitted by the Financial Instruments and Ex-

change Act of Japan, amounts of less than one million 

yen have been omitted. As a result, the totals shown in 

the accompanying consolidated financial statements 

(both in yen and U.S. dollars) do not necessarily agree 

with the sums of the individual amounts.

b. Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements in-

clude the accounts of FFG and all subsidiaries, excluding 

11 subsidiaries controlled directly or indirectly by FFG 

such as FFG Venture Investment Limited Partnership No. 

1. All significant intercompany balances and transactions 

have been eliminated in consolidation.

FFG Industries Co., Ltd. was included in the scope of 

consolidation from the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 

as it was newly established. 

Effective October 1, 2023, FFG implemented a share 

exchange with THE FUKUOKA CHUO BANK, LTD. (here-

inafter “Fukuoka Chuo Bank”), and therefore included Fu-

kuoka Chuo Bank in the scope of consolidation from the 

fiscal year ended March 31, 2024.

The above-mentioned unconsolidated subsidiaries 

are excluded from the scope of consolidation because 

their assets, net income (loss) (amount corresponding to 

the FFG’s equity position), retained earnings (amount cor-

responding to the FFG’s equity position), accumulated 

other comprehensive income (amount corresponding to 

the FFG’s equity position) and others are immaterial to the 

extent that their exclusion from the scope of consolidation 

does not preclude reasonable judgment of the FFG’s fi-

nancial position and results of operations.

In addition, there are four companies that are not re-

garded as FFG’s subsidiaries even though the majority of 

their voting rights (business execution rights) are held by 

FFG in its own accounts. Investments in these four com-

panies were made by FFG’s unconsolidated subsidiaries 

engaged in investment and related businesses for the 

purpose of rehabilitating their businesses and earning 

capital gains, not to control the decision-making bodies 

of the investees. Therefore, the four companies meet the 

requirements prescribed in Paragraph 16 of “Implementa-

tion Guidance on Determining a Subsidiary and an Affili-

ate” (“ASBJ Guidance No. 22), and are not treated as 

FFG’s subsidiaries.

There are no affiliated companies over which FFG ex-

ercises significant influence in terms of their operating and 

financial policies. The above-mentioned unconsolidated 

subsidiaries and two affiliated companies, Kumamoto His-

torical Town Development Investment Limited Partnership 

and Kyushu Open Innovation No. 2 Investment Business 

Limited Partnership, are excluded from the scope of the 

equity method because their net income (loss) (amount 

corresponding to the FFG’s equity position), retained earn-

ings (amount corresponding to the FFG’s equity position), 

accumulated other comprehensive income (amount corre-

sponding to the FFG’s equity position) and others are im-

material to the extent that their exclusion from the scope of 

companies accounted for by the equity method does not 

preclude reasonable judgment of the FFG’s financial posi-

tion and results of operations.

c. Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading account transactions are the transactions in 

which profit opportunities arise from the differences be-

tween different markets and short-term movements in 

rates and other indices, including interest rates, currency 

exchange rates, and dealing in marketable securities. 

These transactions are included in the consolidated finan-

cial statements as of the respective trading dates.

“Trading assets” and “Trading liabilities” are valued 

as follows: Securities and monetary assets are valued at 

fair value at the balance sheet date; swaps, futures, op-

tions and other derivative transactions are valued on the 

assumption that they were settled at the balance sheet 

date.

Gains and losses on trading account transactions are 

recorded by adding or deducting differences between val-

uation gains or losses at the previous balance sheet date 

and those at the current balance sheet date to the interest 

earned or paid in the current year for securities, monetary 

assets, etc. With respect to derivatives, the differences 

between the gains and losses from assumed settlement 

at the previous balance sheet date and those at the cur-

rent balance sheet date are added to or deducted from 

the interest earned or paid in the current year.

d. Securities

Held-to-maturity debt securities are stated at cost com-

puted by the moving average method or amortized cost 

(straight-line method).

Available-for-sale securities are stated at fair value 

(cost of securities sold is calculated using the moving-av-

erage method), and equity securities, etc. that do not 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Fukuoka Financial Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries
Fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023
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have a market price are stated at cost computed by the 

moving-average method.

With respect to translation difference of available-for-

sale securities (bonds) denominated in foreign currencies, 

among amounts that resulted from translating foreign cur-

rency-based fair value at the exchange rates on the bal-

ance sheet date, translation difference due to changes in 

foreign currency-based fair value (the amount translated 

changes in foreign currency-based fair value at the spot 

exchange rates on the balance sheet date) is treated as 

valuation difference, while the other difference is treated 

as net exchange losses (gains).

Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities is 

included in net assets, net of income taxes.

Securities held as components of individually man-

aged money trusts whose principal objective is invest-

ments in securities are stated at fair value.

e. Derivative Transactions

Derivatives for purposes other than trading are stated at 

fair value.

f. Depreciation and Amortization of Fixed Assets

Depreciation of buildings is principally computed using 

the straight-line method. Other tangible fixed assets are 

principally depreciated using the declining-balance meth-

od.

The estimated useful lives of the tangible fixed assets are 

as follows:

Buildings 	 3 years to 50 years

Other 		  2 years to 20 years

Intangible fixed assets are amortized using the 

straight-line method. Costs of computer software devel-

oped or obtained for internal use are amortized using the 

straight-line method for the estimated useful life of 5 

years.

Lease assets under finance leases which do not 

transfer ownership of leased assets to lessees, consisting 

primarily of office equipment, are depreciated by the 

straight-line method over the lease terms of the respec-

tive assets. Residual value of the tangible fixed assets un-

der finance leases which do not transfer ownership of 

leased assets to lessees is guaranteed residual value on 

lease agreements or zero value.

g. Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses in consolidated subsidiaries 

conducting banking businesses is maintained in accor-

dance with internally established standards for write-offs 

and provisions:

•�For credits extended to obligors that are legally bank-

rupt under the Bankruptcy Law, Special Liquidation in 

the Commercial Law or other similar laws (“Bankrupt 

Obligors”), and to obligors that are effectively in similar 

conditions (“Effectively Bankrupt Obligors”), allowances 

are maintained at 100% of amounts of claims, net of 

expected amounts from the disposal of collateral and/

or on the amounts recoverable under guarantees.

•�For credits extended to obligors that are not Bankrupt 

Obligors or Effectively Bankrupt Obligors but have a sub-

stantial chance of business failure going forward (“In-Dan-

ger-of-Bankruptcy Obligors”), allowances are maintained 

at the amount deemed necessary based on overall sol-

vency analyses, on the amount of claims less expected 

amounts recoverable from the disposal of collateral and/

or on the amounts recoverable under guarantees.

•�For credits extended to obligors that are In-Danger-of-

Bankruptcy Obligors or whose credit terms are re-

scheduled or reconditioned, and exceed a certain 

threshold, the Discounted Cash Flow Method (the DCF 

Method) is applied if cash flows on repayment of princi-

pals and collection of interest of the loan can be rea-

sonably estimated. The DCF Method requires that the 

difference between the cash flows discounted by the 

original interest rate and the carrying value of the loan 

be provided as allowance for loan losses.

•�For credits extended to other obligors, allowances are 

maintained principally at the amounts of expected loss-

es for the next 1 year or 3 years by estimating, based 

on an economic outlook, default rates for each of the 

17 categories: 10 categories under Normal Obligors, 6 

categories under Obligors Who Need Attention and 1 

category under In-Danger-of-Bankruptcy Obligors.

All credits are assessed by each credit origination de-

partment, and the results of the assessments are verified 

and examined by the independent examination department.

Allowances for loan losses are provided for on the 

basis of such verified assessments.

Allowance for loan losses in consolidated subsidiaries 

not conducting banking businesses is provided by the ac-

tual write-off ratio method, etc.

h. Retirement Benefits

The expected benefit payments are attributed to each pe-

riod by the benefit formula method upon calculating pro-

jected benefit obligations.

Prior service cost and actuarial gains or losses are 

amortized mainly in the following manner:

•�Prior service cost is amortized by the straight-line 

method over certain periods (5–11 years), which are 

shorter than the average remaining years of service of 

the employees.

•�Actuarial gains or losses are amortized by the straight-

line method from the following year over certain peri-

ods (5–11 years), which are shorter than the average 

remaining years of service of the employees.
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Certain consolidated subsidiaries apply a simplified 

method where the amount to be required for voluntary 

termination at the fiscal year-end is recorded as projected 

benefit obligations in the calculation of their net defined 

benefit liabilities and retirement benefit expenses.

i. �Provision for Losses from Reimbursement of 
Inactive Accounts

The provision for losses from reimbursement of inactive 

accounts for the necessary amount for deposits discontin-

ued from liabilities in consideration of past payment perfor-

mance, owing to depositor requests for reimbursement.

j. Provision of Share Awards

The provision for share awards is provided at the amount 

of estimated share award obligations at the fiscal year-

end for share-based payments to directors, etc. of FFG 

and some of its consolidated subsidiaries under the stock 

compensation plan.

k. Reserves under the Special Laws

Reserves under the special laws corresponds to the finan-

cial instruments transaction liability reserves of FFG Se-

curities Co., Ltd., as reserves against losses resulting 

from a securities-related accident. These reserves are 

calculated in accordance with the provisions of Article 46-

5, Paragraph 1, of the Financial Instruments and Ex-

change Act and Art ic le 175 of the Cabinet Off ice 

Ordinance on Financial Instruments Businesses, etc.

l. �Translation of Assets and Liabilities 
Denominated in Foreign Currencies

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 

are translated into Japanese yen at the exchange rates 

prevailing at the balance sheet date.

m. �Revenue and Expenses for Lease 
Transactions

Regarding revenue for finance leases, net sales and cost 

of sales are recorded upon receipt of lease payments.

n. Hedge Accounting

(1) Hedge accounting for interest rate risks

For derivatives to hedge the interest rate risk associated 

with various financial assets and liabilities, FFG applies 

the deferred method which is stipulated in “Accounting 

and Auditing Treatment of Accounting Standards for Fi-

nancial Instruments in Banking Industry” (JICPA Industry 

Committee Practical Guideline No. 24, March 17, 2022). 

FFG assesses the effectiveness of such hedge for offset-

ting changes in interest rate, by classifying the hedged 

items (such as deposits and loans) and the hedging in-

struments (such as interest rate swaps) by their maturity. 

FFG assesses the effectiveness of such hedges for fixing 

cash flows by verifying the correlation between the 

hedged items and the hedging instruments.

(2) Hedge accounting for foreign exchange risks

FFG applies the deferred method of hedge accounting for 

derivatives to hedge foreign exchange risks associated with 

various foreign currency denominated monetary assets and 

liabilities as stipulated in “Accounting and Auditing Treat-

ment Concerning Accounting for Foreign Currency Trans-

actions in Banking Industry” (JICPA Industry Committee 

Practical Guideline No. 25, October 8, 2020). The effective-

ness of the currency swap transactions, exchange swap 

transactions and similar transactions hedging the foreign 

exchange risks of monetary assets and liabilities denomi-

nated in foreign currencies is assessed based on compari-

son of foreign currency position of the hedged monetary 

assets and liabilities and the hedging instruments.

Deferred hedges based on interest rate swaps with ex-

ceptional accounting are applied to certain assets and lia-

bilities of FFG.

o. Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based 

on the differences between financial reporting and the tax 

bases of the assets and liabilities and are measured using 

the enacted tax rates and laws which will be in effect 

when the differences are expected to reverse.

FFG and some of its domestic subsidiaries adopt the 

group tax sharing system.

p. Appropriation of Retained Earnings

Under the Companies Act, the appropriation of retained 

earnings with respect to a given financial period is made 

by resolution of the shareholders at a general meeting 

held subsequent to the close of such financial period. The 

accounts for that period do not, therefore, reflect such 

appropriations. See Note 22.

q. Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, 

cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and deposits 

with the Bank of Japan which are included in “Cash and 

due from banks” in the consolidated balance sheet.

r. �Principles and Procedures of Accounting 
Treatments Adopted When Relevant 
Accounting Standards, etc. Are Not Clear

With respect to gains or losses on cancellation or redemp-

tion of investment trusts, in case of gains as a whole of in-

vestment trusts including dividends from revenue during 

the fiscal year, etc., it is recorded in “Interest and dividends 

on securities.” In case of losses, it is recorded in loss on 

redemption of bonds under “Other operating expenses.”

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

010_0786901372409.indd   15010_0786901372409.indd   15 2024/08/15   19:08:232024/08/15   19:08:23



1615

s. Significant Accounting Estimates

Items whose recorded amount in the consolidated finan-

cial statements for the current fiscal year for accounting 

determined based on the account estimates, may have a 

significant impact on the consolidated financial state-

ments for the following fiscal year were as follows:

Allowance for loan losses

(1) �The amount recorded in the consolidated financial 

statements for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 

and 2023 
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Allowance for loan losses ¥200,929 ¥187,829

(2) �Information on the details of significant accounting 

estimates for identified items

(a) Calculation method 

	� See “g. Allowance for Loan Losses” of Note 1 for the 

method of calculating allowance for loan losses.

(b) Main assumptions

	� The main assumptions used in the method of calculat-

ing allowance for loan losses are “future performance 

forecasts of borrowers for judgement on category of 

obligors” and “future business forecasts for estimating 

default rates.” Details of assumptions are as follows:

	 •�Future performance forecasts of borrowers for judge-

ment on category of obligors

	   �They are set by assessing the capability to generate 

future earnings of each obligor on an individual basis.

	 •Future business forecasts for estimating default rates

	   �The default rates are statistically estimated and cal-

culated based on an economic outlook, past busi-

ness trends and historical data of bankruptcy, and a 

GDP growth rate is used as an economic indicator.

In forecasting economic outlook, expected an-

nual GDP growth rate is calculated using two scenar-

ios, that is a baseline scenario and a downside 

scenario, based on future prospect of economics, 

which is then determined semiannually in principle by 

the Board of Directors.

At the end of the fiscal year ended March 31, 

2024, despite positive signs such as normalization of 

economic activities due to the downgrading of COV-

ID-19 to a Class V Infectious Disease and rises in 

share prices in Japan and the U.S., FFG assumes 

that there will continue to be a strong sense of uncer-

tainty over the future outlook arising from sluggish 

personal consumption caused by rising prices as well 

as growing tensions of the situation in Ukraine and 

the Middle East.

(c) �Impact on the consolidated financial statements for the 

following fiscal year

	� Main assumptions may be affected by uncertainties 

such as economic trends, real estate prices, and 

changes in the business conditions of client companies. 

Accordingly, when assumptions used for initial esti-

mates change, it may have a significant impact on al-

lowance for loans losses in the consolidated financial 

statements for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2025.

t. �Accounting Standards Issued but Not Yet 
Effective

ASBJ issued the “Accounting Standard for Current In-

come Taxes” (ASBJ Statement No. 27, October 28, 2022), 

“Accounting Standard for Presentation of Comprehen-

sive Income” (ASBJ Statement No. 25, October 28, 2022) 

and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Tax Effect 

Accounting” (ASBJ Guidance No. 28, October 28, 2022).

(a) Overview

	� These accounting standards set forth the treatment of 

accounting classification of current income taxes in the 

case where other comprehensive income is taxable, as 

well as the treatment of tax effect accounting on sale of 

shares of subsidiaries and other instruments under the 

group taxation regime.

(b) Scheduled date of adoption

	� FFG expects to adopt these accounting standards from 

the beginning of the fiscal year ending March 31, 2025. 

(c) Impact of adopting the implementation guidance

	� FFG is currently evaluating the impact of adopting 

these accounting standards on its consolidated finan-

cial statements.

u. Additional Information

Transactions for delivering own shares through a trust

(a) Overview of the transaction

	� FFG has introduced a performance-linked stock com-

pensation plan for FFG’s directors (excluding directors 

serving as Audit & Supervisory Committee members 

and external directors) which seeks to clarify the link 

between directors’ remuneration and the Group’s per-

formance and shareholder value, raise the motivation of 

directors to contribute to the medium- to long-term im-

provement of business performance and the growth of 

corporate value, and have directors share with all share-

holders the risks and returns of share price fluctuations.

	�		   In addition to FFG’s directors, FFG’s executive of-

ficers, and directors and executive officers of The Bank 

of Fukuoka, Ltd., The Kumamoto Bank, Ltd., The Ju-

hachi-Shinwa Bank, Ltd. and Minna Bank, Ltd. (collec-

tively, the “Eligible Directors, etc.”) are covered by this 

plan.

	�		   This plan adopts the Board Incentive Plan (“BIP”) 

Trust scheme whereby FFG’s shares and money are 

delivered to the Eligible Directors, etc. according to 

their position and the degree of attainment of the tar-

get performance, etc.
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	�		   In addition, FFG has introduced a stock compen-

sation plan for directors and executive officers of Fu-

kuoka Chuo Bank. This is because FFG has succeeded 

the plan introduced by Fukuoka Chuo Bank as a result 

of making it a wholly owned subsidiary through a share 

exchange.

(b) FFG’s shares held in the trust

	� FFG’s shares held in the trust are recorded as treasury 

stock under shareholders’ equity at the carrying value 

in the trust. The carrying value of such treasury stock 

as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 was ¥676 million and 

¥595 million, respectively. The number of such treasury 

stock as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 was 266 thou-

sand shares and 242 thousand shares, respectively.

2. U.S. Dollar Amounts

Amounts in U.S. dollars are included solely for the conve-

nience of readers outside Japan. The rate of ¥151.41 = 

US$1.00, the approximate rate of exchange on March 31, 

2024, has been used in translation. The inclusion of such 

amounts is not intended to imply that Japanese yen have 

been or could be readily converted, realized or settled in 

U.S. dollars at that rate or any other rate.

3. Securities

Securities at March 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

National government bonds ¥2,173,163 ¥1,582,482

Local government bonds 147,406 134,863

Corporate bonds 388,190 424,207

Equity securities 270,221 192,124

Other securities 1,998,541 1,619,794

Total ¥4,977,523 ¥3,953,472

Equity securities included investments in unconsolidat-

ed subsidiaries and affiliated companies of ¥46 million and 

¥181 million at March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Other securities included investments in unconsolidated 

subsidiaries and affiliated companies of ¥16,753 million and 

¥13,883 million at March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

National government bonds included bonds of ¥2,755 

million at March 31, 2023, which were being rented out to 

third parties without collateral under lending contracts (se-

curities lending transactions). 

Corporate bonds included bonds offered through pri-

vate placement. FFG’s guarantee obligation for such private 

placement bonds was ¥33,446 million and ¥35,233 million at 

March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

◾ Held-to-maturity debt securities

There were no held-to-maturity debt securities at March 

31, 2024.

The following table summarizes carrying values, fair val-

ues and differences of securities with available fair values 

at March 31, 2023:
(Millions of yen)

2023

Carrying
value

Fair value Difference

Securities with 
fair value 
exceeding  
carrying value

National government bonds ¥  4,033 ¥  4,058 ¥   24

Corporate bonds 2,683 2,744 60

Other — — —

Subtotal ¥  6,717 ¥  6,802 ¥   85

Securities with 
fair value not 
exceeding  
carrying value

National government bonds ¥10,340 ¥10,160 ¥(180)

Corporate bonds — — —

Other — — —

Subtotal ¥10,340 ¥10,160 ¥(180)

Total ¥17,058 ¥16,963 ¥  (94)

◾ Available-for-sale securities

The following tables summarize acquisition costs, carry-

ing values and differences of securities with available fair 

values at March 31, 2024 and 2023:
(Millions of yen)

2024

Acquisition 
cost

Carrying 
value

Difference

Securities with 
carrying value 
exceeding 
acquisition cost

National government bonds ¥   475,310 ¥   477,170 ¥     1,860

Local government bonds 19,811 19,875 63

Corporate bonds 35,261 35,436 174

Equity securities 99,024 253,254 154,230

Other 757,718 813,011 55,293

Subtotal ¥1,387,126 ¥1,598,748 ¥ 211,622

Securities with 
carrying value 
not exceeding 
acquisition cost

National government bonds ¥1,787,699 ¥1,695,992 ¥  (91,706)

Local government bonds 129,482 127,531 (1,951)

Corporate bonds 365,406 352,753 (12,652)

Equity securities 6,053 5,620 (432)

Other 1,168,573 1,107,896 (60,676)

Subtotal ¥3,457,215 ¥3,289,795 ¥(167,419)

Total ¥4,844,341 ¥4,888,544 ¥   44,202

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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(Millions of yen)

2023

Acquisition 
cost

Carrying 
value

Difference

Securities with 
carrying value 
exceeding 
acquisition cost

National government bonds ¥   373,165 ¥   383,218 ¥  10,053

Local government bonds 14,449 14,536 86

Corporate bonds 99,143 99,676 532

Equity securities 63,031 150,988 87,956

Other 605,654 624,956 19,301

Subtotal ¥1,155,443 ¥1,273,374 ¥117,931

Securities with 
carrying value 
not exceeding 
acquisition cost

National government bonds ¥1,250,939 ¥1,184,889 ¥ (66,049)

Local government bonds 121,760 120,327 (1,432)

Corporate bonds 329,453 321,847 (7,605)

Equity securities 34,696 29,519 (5,177)

Other 968,951 921,028 (47,922)

Subtotal ¥2,705,802 ¥2,577,613 ¥(128,188)

Total ¥3,861,245 ¥3,850,988 ¥  (10,257)

	 Securities other than securities held for trading pur-

pose (excluding equity securities, etc. that do not have a 

market price and investments in partnerships) that have 

fallen substantially below the acquisition cost and are not 

expected to recover to the acquisition cost are carried at 

their fair values. The unrealized losses have been recog-

nized for such securities during the period (hereinafter, 

“impairment losses”). No impairment losses were recog-

nized for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 while im-

pairment losses amounted to ¥271 million for the fiscal 

year ended March 31, 2023. The determination of whether 

the fair value has fallen significantly is based on indepen-

dent asset classification, with issuers of securities divided 

into the following classifications.

Bankrupt, effectively 
bankrupt, in danger of 
bankruptcy

Fair value below acquisition cost

Needs attention Fair value 30% or more below acquisition 
cost

Normal Fair value 50% or more below acquisition 
cost, or fair value 30% or more but less 
than 50% below acquisition cost and 
market price below a certain level

	 A bankrupt issuer is one that is currently bankrupt, 

under special liquidation, in disposition by suspension of 

business by a clearinghouse, or legally or formally bank-

rupt from the standpoint of effective management. Effec-

tively bankrupt indicates that an issuer is experiencing 

business failure in substance. An issuer in danger of 

bankruptcy is one that is highly likely to be classified as 

bankrupt in the future. Needs attention indicates an issuer 

that will require care in management. A normal issuer is 

one that falls outside the above-stated categories of 

bankrupt issuer, effectively bankrupt issuer, issuer in dan-

ger of bankruptcy and issuer who needs attention.

The following table summarizes total sales amounts of 

available-for-sale securities sold, and amounts of the re-

lated gains and losses for the fiscal years ended March 

31, 2024 and 2023:
(Millions of yen)

2024

Sales 
amounts

Amounts of 
the related 

gains

Amounts of 
the related 

losses

National government bonds ¥179,579 ¥   664 ¥20,215

Local government bonds 5,796 59 4

Corporate bonds 9,234 44 —

Equity securities 7,691 2,967 268

Other 51,354 2,345 1,391

Total ¥253,656 ¥6,080 ¥21,879

(Millions of yen)

2023

Sales 
amounts

Amounts of 
the related 

gains

Amounts of 
the related 

losses

National government bonds ¥483,857 ¥10,822 ¥     585

Local government bonds — — —

Corporate bonds 5,708 0 —

Equity securities 8,396 2,676 455

Other 480,672 2,783 51,418

Total ¥978,634 ¥16,282 ¥52,459

4. Money Held in Trust

The following table summarizes carrying value and gains 

(losses) on valuation included in the consolidated state-

ment of income regarding money held in trust for trading 

purpose at March 31, 2024 and 2023 and for the fiscal 

years then ended:
(Millions of yen)

2024

Carrying
value

Gains (losses) 
on valuation

Money held in trust for trading purpose ¥13,053 ¥22

(Millions of yen)

2023

Carrying
value

Gains (losses) 
on valuation

Money held in trust for trading purpose ¥13,114 ¥124
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The following tables summarize acquisition costs, carry-

ing values and differences of money held in trust for other 

purpose (i.e. not for trading or held-to-maturity) at March 

31, 2024 and 2023: 
 (Millions of yen)

2024

Acquisition 
cost

Carrying 
value

Difference

Money held in trust for other 
purpose

¥6,200 ¥6,200 ¥—

(Millions of yen)

2023

Acquisition 
cost

Carrying
value

Difference

Money held in trust for other 
purpose

¥5,800 ¥5,800 ¥—

5. Claims

Claims based on the Banking Act and Act on Emergency 

Measures for the Revitalization of the Financial Functions 

at March 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows. The claims 

consist of those recorded in the consolidated balance 

sheet as corporate bonds in “Securities” (limited to those 

guaranteeing all or a part of principal and interest, and of-

fered through private placement in accordance with Article 

2, Paragraph 3 of the Financial Instruments and Exchange 

Act), loans and bills discounted, foreign exchanges, ac-

crued interest and suspense payments in “Other assets” 

and customers’ liabilities for acceptances and guarantees, 

as well as securities in securities lending transactions in-

dicated in the notes (limited to those under loan for use or 

lease contracts).
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Bankrupt or quasi-bankrupt claims ¥  50,399 ¥  39,844

Doubtful claims 152,604 153,778

Claims past due for three months or 
more

1,337 855

Restructured claims 107,251 110,176

Total ¥311,592 ¥304,655

Bankrupt or quasi-bankrupt claims are claims made 

against obligors who have fallen into bankruptcy for rea-

sons such as the commencement of bankruptcy proceed-

ings or reorganization proceedings, or the petition for 

commencement of rehabilitation proceedings, and claims 

similar to these.

Doubtful claims are claims that are made against obli-

gors who are yet to have fallen into bankruptcy, but it is 

highly probable that the contractual principal and interest 

cannot be collected/received due to deterioration of the ob-

ligor’s financial condition and business performance, and 

those not classified as bankrupt or quasi-bankrupt claims.

Claims past due for three months or more represent 

claims for which payments of principal or interest have 

been in arrears for three months or more from the day fol-

lowing the agreed-upon payment date, but do not meet 

the criteria for bankrupt or quasi-bankrupt claims, or 

doubtful claims.

Restructured claims are claims that have been re-

structured to support the rehabilitation of certain obligors 

who are encountering financial difficulties, with the inten-

tion of ensuring recovery of the loans by providing easier 

repayment terms for the obligors (such as by reducing the 

rate of interest or by providing a grace period for the pay-

ment of principal/interest, etc.), and are not classified in 

any of the above categories.

The amounts of claims in the above table are before 

deduction of allowance for loan losses.

Notes discounted are recorded as cash lending/bor-

rowing transactions in accordance with “Accounting and 

Auditing Treatments of the Application of Accounting 

Standards for Financial Instruments in the Banking Indus-

try” (JICPA Industry Committee Practical Guideline No. 

24, March 17, 2022). FFG has a right to sell or collateral-

ize such bills at the discretion of FFG. At March 31, 2024 

and 2023, total face value of commercial bills and bills of 

exchange acquired through discounting amounted to 

¥38,791 million and ¥30,883 million, respectively.

Line-of-credit agreements relating to overdrafts and 

loans are agreements which oblige FFG to lend funds up 

to a certain limit agreed in advance. FFG makes the loan 

upon the request of an obligor to draw down funds under 

such a loan agreement as long as there is no breach of 

the various terms and conditions stipulated in the relevant 

loan agreement. The unused line-of-credit balance relat-

ing to these overdrafts and loan agreements at March 31, 

2024 and 2023 amounted to ¥4,859,003 million and 

¥4,842,363 million, respectively. The amount related to 

overdrafts and loans with a term of one year or less or 

overdrafts and loans which permit unconditional cancella-

tion at any time were ¥4,452,148 million and ¥4,461,404 

million at March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

As many of these contracts expire undrawn, the aggre-

gate total of the undrawn amount does not necessarily affect 

the future cash flows of FFG and its consolidated subsidiar-

ies. Many of these contracts have clauses that allow FFG’s 

consolidated subsidiaries to turn down a loan request or re-

duce the amounts of the credit line if there is a change in fi-

nancial conditions, a need to establish increased securities, 

or other similar reasons. In addition to obtaining necessary 

collateral (real estates, securities, etc.) at the time the com-

mitment contract is entered into, FFG’s consolidated sub-

sidiaries assess the condition of the customer’s business 

operations, and analyze other information, based on internal 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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procedures and standards. If necessary, the contract is re-

viewed and revised, or additional steps are taken to secure 

the credit extended to the customer.

6. Tangible Fixed Assets

Land used for the Bank of Fukuoka’s business activities 

has been revalued on the basis prescribed by the Law 

Concerning Land Revaluation (Proclamation No. 34 dated 

March 31, 1998). As for the revaluation difference, the in-

come tax account corresponding to the revaluation differ-

ence amount is included in liabilities as “Deferred tax 

liabilities for land revaluation,” and the revaluation differ-

ence, net of this deferred tax liability, is included in net 

assets as “Revaluation reserve for land.”

Date of revaluation: March 31, 1998

Revaluation method as stated in Article 3-3 of the Law 

Concerning Land Revaluation:

The value of land is based on the official notice prices 

calculated as directed by public notification of the Com-

missioner of the National Tax Administration and as pro-

vided in the Law Concerning Public Notification of Land 

Prices, as stipulated in Article 2-4 of the Ordinance Imple-

menting the Law Concerning Land Revaluation (Govern-

ment Ordinance No. 119 dated March 31, 1998), after 

making reasonable adjustments.

Accumulated depreciation for tangible fixed assets 

amounted to ¥169,261 million and ¥158,875 million at 

March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The accelerated depreciation entry for tangible fixed 

assets amounted to ¥17,013 million and ¥16,981 million 

at March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

7. Pledged Assets

Assets pledged as collateral at March 31, 2024 and 2023 

consisted of the following:
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Assets pledged as collateral:

   Securities ¥ 3,446,494 ¥ 2,751,082

   Loans and bills discounted 5,013,750 5,003,640

   Other assets 4 3

Liabilities corresponding to assets 
pledged as collateral:

   Deposits 41,916 47,816

   Payables under repurchase  
   agreements

317,101 433,407

   Cash collateral received for  
   securities lent

915,202 680,468

   Borrowed money 6,128,154 4,946,144

   Other liabilities 14 —

In addition, the following assets were pledged as col-

lateral for settlement of exchange, etc. at March 31, 2024 

and 2023.
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Cash and due from banks ¥    2 ¥    2

Other assets 712 838

Initial margins of futures markets, cash collateral paid 

for financial instruments and guarantee deposits included in 

other assets at March 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Initial margins of futures markets ¥       199 ¥       168

Cash collateral paid for financial 
instruments

183,219 146,485

Guarantee deposits 2,475 2,569

8. Retirement Benefit Plans

The consolidated subsidiaries engaged in banking busi-

nesses primarily have a cash balance plan-type corporate 

pension plan as a defined benefit plan and established re-

tirement benefit trusts.

FFG and certain consolidated subsidiaries have a de-

fined contribution-type corporate pension plan as a defined 

contribution plan. 

Certain consolidated subsidiaries apply a simplified 

method in the calculation of their net defined benefit liabili-

ties and retirement benefit expenses concerning lump-sum 

payment plans.

(1) Defined benefit plans

The changes in the projected benefit obligation during the 

fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 were as fol-

lows:
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Projected benefit obligation at the 
beginning of the fiscal year

¥162,283 ¥166,409

   Increase by share exchange 3,035 —

   Service cost 4,548 4,665

   Interest cost 265 266

   Actuarial losses (gains) (21,175) (491)

   Retirement benefits paid (8,282) (9,021)

   Prior service cost — —

   Contributions by participants of plans 450 454

   Other 0 —

Projected benefit obligation at  
the end of the fiscal year

¥141,127 ¥162,283
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The changes in plan assets during the fiscal years ended 

March 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Plan assets at the beginning of the 
fiscal year

¥186,389 ¥191,296

   Increase by share exchange 5,668 —

   Expected return on plan assets 6,578 6,678

   Actuarial gains (losses) 12,982 (3,665)

   Contributions by FFG’s subsidiaries 5,705 63

   Retirement benefits paid (7,926) (8,437)

   Contributions by participants of plans 450 454

   Other — —

Plan assets at the end of the fiscal year ¥209,848 ¥186,389

The following table sets forth the funded status of the 

plans and the amounts recognized in the consolidated 

balance sheet as of March 31, 2024 and 2023.
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Funded projected benefit obligation ¥ 139,458 ¥ 160,655

Plan assets at fair value (209,848) (186,389)

(70,390) (25,734)

Unfunded projected benefit obligation 1,669 1,628

Net asset for retirement benefits in the 
balance sheet

¥  (68,720) ¥  (24,105)

(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Net defined benefit liabilities ¥   1,163 ¥   1,146

Net defined benefit assets (69,884) (25,252)

Net asset for retirement benefits in the 
balance sheet

¥(68,720) ¥(24,105)

The components of retirement benefit expenses for the 

fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 were as fol-

lows:
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Service cost ¥ 4,548 ¥ 4,665

Interest cost 265 266

Expected return on plan assets (6,578) (6,678)

Amortization of actuarial losses (gains) 328 22

Amortization of prior service cost 71 (355)

Other — —

Retirement benefit expenses ¥(1,363) ¥(2,079)

The components of remeasurements of defined benefit 

plans included in other comprehensive income (before tax 

effect) for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 

2023 were as follows:
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Prior service cost ¥       71 ¥   (355)

Actuarial gains (losses) 34,486 (3,151)

Other — —

Total ¥34,557 ¥(3,506)

The components of remeasurements of defined benefit 

plans included in accumulated other comprehensive in-

come (before tax effect) as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 

were as follows:
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Unrecognized prior service cost ¥      607 ¥   871

Unrecognized actuarial gains (losses) (29,273) 5,190

Other — —

Total ¥(28,665) ¥6,062

The fair value of plan assets, by major category, as a per-

centage of total plan assets as of March 31, 2024 and 

2023 was as follows:

2024 2023

Debt securities 33% 34%

Equity securities 39% 37%

Cash and due from banks 2% 2%

Other 26% 27%

Total 100% 100%

Total plan assets included retirement benefit trusts of 

29% and 29% as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respec-

tively, which were set for corporate pension plans.

The long-term expected rate of return on plan assets 

has been estimated based on the current and anticipated 

allocation of plan assets and the current and long-term ex-

pected return on plan assets composed of various assets.

The main assumptions used in accounting for the above 

plans were as follows:

2024 2023

Discount rate Mainly 1.4% 0.3%

Long-term expected rate of return on 
plan assets

Mainly 3.5% 3.5%

Estimated rate of increase in salary Mainly 3.3% 3.3%

(2) Defined contribution plans

The amounts to be paid to defined contribution plans by con-

solidated subsidiaries were ¥386 million and ¥386 million for 

the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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9. Acceptances and Guarantees

All contingent liabilities arising from acceptances and 

guarantees are included in this account. As a contra ac-

count, “Customers’ liabilities for acceptances and guar-

antees” is shown on the assets side, which represents 

FFG’s right of indemnity from the applicants.

FFG’s guarantees total ¥33,446 million and ¥35,233 

million at March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, for pri-

vate placement corporate bonds. Relevant acceptances 

and guarantees and customers’ liabilities for acceptances 

and guarantees have been recorded in the net amount.

10. Valuation Difference on Available-for-sale Securities

Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities at 

March 31, 2024 and 2023 consisted of the following:
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Gross valuation difference on available-
for-sale securities

¥ 44,715 ¥(8,929)

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) 
applicable to valuation difference

(11,246) 4,117

Valuation difference on available-for-
sale securities, net of the applicable 
income taxes before adjustment for 
non-controlling interests

33,469 (4,812)

Amount attributable to non-controlling 
interests

— —

Valuation difference on available-for-
sale securities

33,469 (4,812)

11. Impairment Losses

Impairment losses for the fiscal year ended March 31, 

2023 included the following:

Impairment losses on intangible fixed assets of a consoli-

dated subsidiary

Zerobank Design Factory Co., Ltd., which is one of FFG’s 

consolidated subsidiaries, engages in the research and 

development of IT systems for Minna Bank, Ltd., which is 

also one of FFG’s consolidated subsidiaries. Accordingly, 

the two subsidiaries are grouped into a minimum cash 

generating unit. 

Due to the revision of the two subsidiaries’ business 

plans for the following fiscal year onward, impairment 

losses on intangible fixed assets of Zerobank Design Fac-

tory Co., Ltd. were recorded in other expenses based on 

the “Accounting Standard for Impairment of Fixed Assets” 

for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023 as follows:
(Millions of yen)

2023

Usage Location Type
Impairment 

losses

Business assets
Fukuoka
Prefecture

Software ¥3,321

Software in progress 1,067

Total ¥4,388

The difference between the net selling value, which is 

zero, and the carrying value of the above assets was re-

corded as impairment losses in other expenses.

12. Income Taxes

The significant components of the deferred tax assets and 

liabilities as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Deferred tax assets:

Allowance for loan losses ¥ 56,984 ¥ 53,012

Net losses carried forward 5,234 5,312

Net defined benefit liabilities 449 5,980

Valuation difference on available-for-
sale securities

— 4,117

Depreciation of securities 4,221 5,115

Depreciation expenses 4,750 4,953

Fair value gains related to  
consolidated taxation

3,784 3,853

Other 10,872 11,473

Subtotal 86,297 93,818

Valuation allowance for net losses 
carried forward

(3,396) (3,518)

Valuation allowance for total  
deductible temporary differences, etc.

(12,133) (14,020)

Subtotal (15,529) (17,539)

Total 70,767 76,279

Deferred tax liabilities:

Valuation difference on available-for-
sale securities

(11,246) —

Retirement benefit trust (6,272) (5,352)

Securities returned from retirement 
benefit trust 

(3,159) (3,159)

Reserve for special depreciation (673) (452)

Fair value losses related to  
consolidated taxation

(465) (465)

Deferred gains or losses on hedges (8,991) (3,659)

Other (19,709) (11,055)

Total (50,517) (24,145)

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) ¥ 20,250 ¥ 52,134
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The following table summarizes the significant differ-

ences between the statutory tax rate and the effective tax 

rate for consolidated financial statement purposes for the 

fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.
(%)

2024 2023

Statutory tax rate 30.4 —

Change in valuation allowance (0.7) —

Gain on negative goodwill (8.4) —

Entertainment expenses and other 
items permanently excluded from 
expenses

0.4 —

Per capital residence tax 0.3 —

Dividend revenue and other items 
permanently excluded from gross 
revenue

(0.6) —

Other (0.5) —

Effective tax rate 20.9 —

Note: �The above information for the fiscal year ended 

March 31, 2023 is omitted because the difference 

between the statutory tax rate and the effective tax 

rate was less than 5% of the statutory tax rate.

FFG and some of its domestic consolidated subsid-

iaries adopt the group tax sharing system. Accordingly, 

the accounting and disclosure of corporation taxes, local 

corporation taxes and tax effect accounting are treated in 

accordance with the “Practical Solution on the Account-

ing and Disclosure Under the Group Tax Sharing System” 

(ASBJ PITF No. 42, August 12, 2021).

13. Per Share Data

Net income attributable to owners of the parent per share 

for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 and 

net assets per share as of then were as follows:
(Yen)

2024 2023

Net income attributable to owners of 
the parent per share:

   Basic ¥  324.76 ¥  165.54

   Diluted — —

Net assets per share 5,397.27 4,796.99

Basic net income attributable to owners of the parent 

per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to 

owners of the parent by the weighted average number of 

shares of common stock outstanding during the fiscal year.

For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, 

as there were no dilutive securities, the amount of diluted 

net income attributable to owners of the parent per share 

of common stock is not stated. 

Net assets per share is computed by dividing net assets 

excluding non-controlling interests by the number of shares 

of common stock outstanding at the fiscal year-end.

FFG’s shares held in the trust for the stock compen-

sation plan, which were recorded as treasury stock under 

shareholders’ equity, were included in treasury stock to 

be deducted from the calculation of the weighted average 

number of shares of common stock outstanding during 

the fiscal year for the purpose of calculating basic net in-

come attributable to owners of the parent per share. In 

addition, they were included in treasury stock to be de-

ducted from the calculation of the number of shares of 

common stock outstanding at the fiscal year-end, for the 

purpose of calculating net assets per share.

14. Other Comprehensive Income

Each component of other comprehensive income for the 

fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 were the fol-

lowing:
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Valuation difference on available-for-
sale securities:

   Gains (losses) arising during the year ¥ 35,258 ¥ (133,458)

   Reclassification adjustments to profit 
   or loss

18,386 54,604

   Amount before income tax effect 53,645 (78,853)

   Income tax effect (15,363) 24,067

      Total 38,281 (54,786)

Deferred gains or losses on hedges

   Gains (losses) arising during the year 13,827 16,841

   Reclassification adjustments to profit 
   or loss

3,706 (2,095)

   Amount before income tax effect 17,534 14,745

   Income tax effect (5,330) (4,482)

      Total 12,203 10,263

Remeasurements of defined benefit 
plans

   Gains (losses) arising during the year 34,299 (3,173)

   Reclassification adjustments to profit 
   or loss

428 (333)

   Amount before income tax effect 34,727 (3,506)

   Income tax effect (10,557) 1,066

      Total 24,170 (2,440)

      Total other comprehensive income ¥ 74,656 ¥  (46,963)

15. Supplementary Cash Flow Information

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

The reconciliation of cash and due from banks in the con-

solidated balance sheet to cash and cash equivalents in 

the consolidated statement of cash flows at March 31, 

2024 and 2023 were as follows:
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Cash and due from banks ¥8,449,933 ¥7,713,590

Interest-earning deposits with other 
banks (Excluding deposits with the 
Bank of Japan) 

(4,756) (5,177)

Cash and cash equivalents ¥8,445,177 ¥7,708,412

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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16. Leases

As lessee

Finance leases which do not transfer ownership of 

leased assets to lessees

The leased assets primarily consist of office machinery 

and equipment. See Note 1 for the depreciation method 

of the leased assets. 

Operating leases

Total future lease payments under non-cancelable operat-

ing leases at March 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Within one year ¥  61 ¥  58

Over one year 139 123

Total ¥201 ¥181

17. Financial Instruments

(1) Qualitative information on financial instruments

(a) Policies for using financial instruments

	� FFG’s operations center on the banking business with 

various financial services. Through these operations, 

FFG generates income primarily from interest on loans 

to customers, as well as through securities—mainly 

bonds—and call  loans. FFG raises funds mainly 

through customer deposits, as well from call money, 

borrowed money and bonds. In this way, FFG princi-

pally holds financial assets and financial liabilities that 

are subject to interest rate fluctuations. FFG conducts 

asset-liability management (ALM) to minimize the neg-

ative impact of interest rate fluctuations. ALM includes 

the use of derivative transactions.

(b) Details of major financial instruments and their risk

	 Loans and bills discounted

	� Loans and bills discounted are mainly comprised of 

loans to domestic corporate and individual customers 

and are subject to credit risk which is a risk of de-

crease or loss in asset value due to deterioration of 

borrowers’ financial condition, and interest rate risk 

which is a risk of decrease in profit or suffering loss 

due to interest rate fluctuation.

	 Securities

	� FFG holds equity and debt securities. Such securities 

are subject to issuer credit risk, interest rate risk, price 

fluctuation risk which is a risk of suffering loss from 

market price fluctuation and liquidity risk (market li-

quidity risk) owing to such factors as being unable to 

dispose of securities under certain conditions in the 

operating environment. FFG employs interest rate 

swap transactions to reduce its interest rate risk to a 

certain extent. In addition to the above-mentioned 

risks, securities denominated in foreign currencies are 

subject to exchange rate fluctuation risk which is a risk 

of suffering loss from exchange rate fluctuation. Cur-

rency swap transactions, etc. are used to reduce this 

risk to a certain extent.

	 Deposits

	� FFG accepts from corporate and individual customers’ 

current deposits, ordinary and other demand deposits, 

time deposits with unregulated interest rates, and nego-

tiable certificates of deposit. Such deposits are subject 

to liquidity risk (cash flow risk), which is the risk that 

FFG is unable to secure the funds required to honor 

these deposits because of unforeseen cash outflows.

	 Derivative transactions

	� Derivative transactions are used for providing custom-

ers with hedging instruments, etc., conducting asset-

liability management (ALM) and other purposes. Such 

derivative transactions are subject to market risk (inter-

est rate risk, price fluctuation risk and exchange rate 

fluctuation risk), credit risk and liquidity risk (market li-

quidity risk). 

	�	  Hedge accounting is employed for certain deriva-

tive transactions used as part of ALM to hedge interest 

rate risk and exchange rate fluctuation risk, and mat-

ters related to the hedge accounting such as hedging 

instruments, hedged items, the hedge policy and the 

method for assessing the effectiveness of hedges are 

described in “n. Hedge Accounting” of “Notes to Con-

solidated Financial Statements, 1. Summary of Signifi-

cant Accounting Policies.”

(2) Financial risk management system

(a) Management of credit risk

	� The principal risk that FFG encounters is credit risk, 

and appropriate management to maintain asset sound-

ness while securing appropriate returns is a topmost 

priority for bank management.

	�	  FFG’s Board of Directors has formulated the “Credit 

Risk Management Policy,” which establishes FFG’s ba-

sic policy for credit risk management, and the “Credit 

Policy,” which clarifies basic considerations and stan-

dards for decisions and actions for appropriate conduct 

of the credit operations, to manage credit risk appropri-

ately. FFG also seeks to determine obligor status and 

supports initiatives targeting obligors, including man-

agement consultation, management guidance and man-

agement improvement. Furthermore, FFG calculates the 

amount of credit risk for individual obligors and portfoli-

os, verifies the general allowance for loan losses, con-

ducts comparisons with capital adequacy and employs 

credit risk management procedures to determine the ra-

tionality and quantity of credit risk.
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	�	  FFG’s organization for handling credit risk manage-

ment is separated clearly into the Credit Risk Manage-

ment Department and the Risk Audit Department. To 

ensure the effectiveness of credit risk management, 

within the Credit Risk Management Department, FFG 

has established the Screening Department, Credit Man-

agement Department, Ratings Department and Problem 

Obligor Management Department. The Credit Manage-

ment Department formulates plans and works to ensure 

risk management preparedness in line with the Risk 

Management Program that stipulates action plans re-

garding credit risk. The Risk Audit Department audits 

the appropriateness of credit risk management.

	�	  The Credit Management Department reports ap-

propriately and in a timely manner to the Board of Di-

rectors and the ALM Committee to communicate the 

status of credit risk and credit risk management regu-

larly and on an as-needed basis. 

	�	  The Credit Risk Management Department regularly 

determines credit information and market prices to 

manage credit risk on issuers of securities and coun-

terparty risk on derivative transactions.

(b) Management of market risk

	� Along with returns on credit risk, the returns on interest 

rate risk and other market risks constitute one of FFG’s 

largest sources of earnings. However, returns are high-

ly susceptible to the risks taken, and fluctuations in 

market risk factors can have a major impact on profit-

ability and financial soundness.

	�	  FFG’s Board of Directors has formulated the “Mar-

ket Risk Management Policy” as its basic policy on 

managing market risk. The board has also created 

management regulations, which prescribe specific risk 

management methods, to manage market risk appro-

priately.

	�	  FFG’s ALM Committee deliberates expeditious 

and specific measures to respond to changes in the 

market environment and determines response policies. 

The management committees of consolidated subsid-

iaries set FFG’s risk capital and the ceilings necessary 

for managing other market risks, reviewing these set-

tings every six months.

	�	  FFG’s organization for managing market risks 

comprises the Market Transaction Department (front 

office), the Market Risk Management Department (mid-

dle office), the Market Operations Management De-

partment (back office) and the Risk Audit Department. 

This organizational structure ensures a mutual check-

ing function. The Market Risk Management Department 

has established the “Risk Management Program,” 

which establishes action plans related to market risk, 

and works to prepare for and confirm market risk 

management. The Risk Audit Department audits the 

appropriateness of market risk management.

	�	  Furthermore, the Market Risk Management De-

partment reports appropriately and in a timely manner 

to the Board of Directors and the ALM Committee to 

communicate the status of market risk and market risk 

management regularly and on an as-needed basis.

	 Quantitative information related to market risk

	 (i) Financial instruments held for trading purposes

FFG holds securities for trading purposes, classified 

as “Trading assets,” and conducts certain derivative 

transactions for trading purposes, including interest 

rate-related transactions, currency-related transac-

tions and bond-related transactions. These financial 

products are traded with customers or as their 

counter transactions, and risk is minimal.

	 (ii) �Financial instruments held for purposes other than 

trading

		  Interest rate risk

FFG’s main financial instruments affected by interest 

rate fluctuations—the primary risk variable—are 

“Loans and bills discounted,” bonds included in 

“Securities,” “Deposits,” “Borrowed money,” “Bonds 

payable” and interest-related transactions included 

in “Derivative transactions.”

FFG calculates VaR of these financial assets 

and financial liabilities using the historical simulation 

method (holding period of 60 days, confidence inter-

val of 99%, observation period of 1,250 days) and 

employs quantitative analysis in its interest rate fluc-

tuation risk management.

As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, FFG’s amount 

of interest rate risk (value of estimated losses) was 

¥86,183 million and ¥57,600 million, respectively.

FFG conducts back-testing by comparing its 

VaR model calculations with estimated gains or 

losses based on its portfolio for the VaR measure-

ment period. In the domestic banking department, 

losses exceeded the VaR several times in back-test-

ing conducted for the fiscal year ended March 31, 

2024. Therefore, FFG ensures a conservative esti-

mate by measuring VaR using a fixed multiplier. 

However, as the losses did not exceed the VaR more 

than four times as of March 31, 2024, VaR is cur-

rently not estimated by using a fixed multiplier.

Among financial liabilities, VaR for “liquid de-

posits” that are included in “Deposits” and have no 

maturity is calculated using an internal model with 

an appropriate term that assumes long-term holding.

Thus VaR is a technique to measure interest rate 

risk using certain statistical probabilities based on 

historical market fluctuations, and consequently, this 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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process may not capture risk in the event that inter-

est rates fluctuate in a manner that has not been ob-

served in the past. Therefore, FFG reviews the 

calculation models used, etc. in a timely and appro-

priate manner as necessary to improve the accuracy 

in capturing risk.

Volatility risk

FFG’s main financial instruments affected by share 

price fluctuations—the primary risk variable—are 

listed equity securities and investment trusts includ-

ed in “Securities.”

FFG calculates VaR of these financial assets us-

ing the historical simulation method (holding period 

of 120 days, confidence interval of 99%, observation 

period of 1,250 days for listed equity securities held 

for strategic investment purpose; holding period of 

60 days, confidence interval of 99%, observation 

period of 1,250 days for listed equity securities held 

purely for investment purpose and investment trusts) 

and employs quantitative analysis in its volatility risk 

management.

As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, FFG’s amount 

of volatility risk was ¥89,714 million and ¥87,697 

million, respectively.

FFG conducts back-testing by comparing its VaR 

model calculations with estimated gains or losses 

based on its portfolio for the VaR measurement peri-

od. As a result of such back-testing conducted for 

the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, no losses ex-

ceeded the VaR. FFG believes that the measurement 

model captures volatility risk with sufficient accuracy.

However, VaR measures volatility risk using cer-

tain statistical probabilities based on historical mar-

ket fluctuations, and consequently, this process may 

not capture risk in the event that prices fluctuate in a 

manner that has not been observed in the past. 

(c) Management of liquidity risk

	� FFG recognizes the need to manage liquidity risk thor-

oughly, as it believes that downplaying liquidity risk 

could lead to serious problems of business failure and, 

in turn, the systemic risk of a chain reaction of defaults 

by financial institutions.

	�	  FFG’s Board of Directors has formulated the “Li-

quidity Risk Management Policy” as its basic policy on 

managing liquidity risk, management regulations defin-

ing specific management methods, and regulations 

defining the method of responding to liquidity crises to 

manage liquidity risk appropriately.

	�	  FFG’s ALM Committee deliberates expeditious 

and specific measures to respond to changes in the 

market environment and determines response policies. 

The management committees of consolidated subsid-

iaries set cash flow limits and pledged collateral limits, 

reviewing these limits every six months.

	�	  FFG determines response policies corresponding 

to cash flow conditions (normal, concern, crisis). The 

Cash Flow Management Department assesses cash 

flow condition each month, and the ALM Committee 

deliberates response policies.

	�	  FFG’s organization for managing liquidity risk 

comprises the Cash Flow Management Department, 

which is in charge of daily cash flow management and 

operations; the Liquidity Risk Management Depart-

ment, which monitors whether daily cash flow manage-

ment and operations are carried out appropriately; and 

the Risk Audit Department. This organizational struc-

ture ensures a mutual checking function. The Liquidity 

Risk Management Department has established the 

“Risk Management Program,” which establishes action 

plans related to liquidity risk, and work to prepare for 

and confirm liquidity risk management. The Risk Audit 

Department audits the appropriateness of liquidity risk 

management.

	�	  Furthermore, the Liquidity Risk Management De-

partment reports appropriately and in a timely manner 

to the Board of Directors and the ALM Committee to 

communicate the status of liquidity risk and liquidity 

risk management regularly and on an as-needed basis.

(3) Fair values of financial instruments

Carrying values and fair values of the financial instruments 

on the consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2024 and 

2023 were as follows. Equity securities, etc. that do not 

have a market price and investments in partnerships are 

not included in the table below. In addition, notes are 

omitted for items whose fair value approximates book 

value due to their short maturities, or whose carrying val-

ue is immaterial.
(Millions of yen)

2024

Carrying value Fair value Difference

Assets

Securities

    Held-to-maturity debt securities ¥� — ¥� — ¥� —

    Available-for-sale securities (*1) 4,888,544  4,888,544  —

Loans and bills discounted (*2) 18,345,549 18,445,599 100,050

Total ¥�23,234,093 ¥�23,334,143 ¥�100,050

Liabilities

Deposits ¥�21,680,861 ¥�21,681,267 ¥ 405

Borrowed money 6,132,375 6,059,379 (72,995)

Total ¥�27,813,236 ¥�27,740,647 ¥�(72,589)

Derivatives (*3)

Hedge accounting not applied ¥� 2,317 ¥� 2,317 ¥� —

Hedge accounting applied (*4) 23,954 23,954 —

Total ¥� 26,272 ¥� 26,272 ¥� —
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(Millions of yen)

2023

Carrying value Fair value Difference

Assets

Securities

    Held-to-maturity debt securities ¥� 17,058 ¥� 16,963 ¥� (94)

    Available-for-sale securities (*1) 3,850,988 3,850,988 —

Loans and bills discounted (*2) 17,504,270 17,623,354 119,083

Total ¥�21,372,317 ¥�21,491,305 ¥�118,988

Liabilities

Deposits ¥�20,949,452 ¥�20,949,915 ¥� 462

Borrowed money 4,951,707 4,904,630 (47,077)

Total ¥�25,901,159 ¥�25,854,545 ¥�(46,613)

Derivatives (*3)

Hedge accounting not applied ¥� 2,751 ¥� 2,751 ¥� —

Hedge accounting applied (*4) 5,443 5,443 —

Total ¥� 8,195 ¥� 8,195 ¥� —

(*1) �Available-for-sale securities include investment trusts whose unit 
price is deemed as fair value by applying the treatment provided 
for in Paragraphs 24-3 and 24-9 of “Implementation Guidance on 
Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement” (ASBJ Guid-
ance No. 31, June 17, 2021).

(*2) �Allowance for loan losses on loans and bills discounted are di-
rectly deducted from the amounts on consolidated financial 
statements.

(*3) �Derivatives indicate the sum of derivatives included within “Trading 
assets and liabilities” and “Other assets and liabilities.” Net 
amounts of receivables and payables arising from derivative 
transactions are indicated. Parentheses indicate totals that are 
net payable amounts. 

(*4) �Derivatives to which hedge accounting is applied are interest rate 
swaps and currency swaps, etc. designated as hedging instru-
ments to fix cash flows of financial assets and financial liabilities 
of hedged items such as loans and securities, offset market fluc-
tuation, or reduce foreign exchange risk. FFG applies deferred 
hedge accounting, interest rate swaps with exceptional account-
ing, or the allocation method to these derivatives.

In addition, “Practical Solution on the Treatment of Hedge 
Accounting for Financial Instruments that Reference LIBOR” 
(ASBJ PITF No. 40, March 17, 2022) is applied to the hedging re-
lationships.  

The carrying value of equity securities, etc. that do not have 

a market price and investments in partnerships at March 

31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows. These are not included 

in “Available-for-sale securities” in the above tables.
(Millions of yen)

2024 2023

Carrying value

Unlisted equity securities (*1) (*2) ¥11,346 ¥11,617

Investments in partnerships (*3) 77,632 73,808

(*1) �Unlisted equity securities are exempted from fair value disclo-
sures in accordance with Paragraph 5 of “Implementation Guid-
ance on Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments” 
(ASBJ Guidance No. 19, March 31, 2020).

(*2) �Impairment losses on unlisted equity securities were ¥63 million 
and ¥52 million for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 
2023, respectively. 

(*3) �Investments in partnerships are exempted from fair value disclo-
sures in accordance with Paragraph 24-16 of “Implementation 
Guidance on Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement” 
(ASBJ Guidance No. 31, June 17, 2021).

The redemption schedule for monetary assets and securi-

ties with maturity dates at March 31, 2024 and 2023 are 

summarized as follows:
(Millions of yen)

2024

1 year or 
less

More than 1 
year but 

less than 3 
years

More than 3 
years but 

less than 5 
years

More than 5 
years but 

less than 7 
years

More than 7 
years but 

less than 10 
years

More than 
10 years

Due from banks ¥  8,250,390 ¥� — ¥� — ¥� — ¥� — ¥� —

Call loans and bills bought 16,806 — — — — —

Monetary claims bought 41,569 — — — — —

Securities

   Held-to-maturity debt securities

      National government bonds — — — — — —

      Corporate bonds — — — — — —

   Available-for-sale securities with maturities

      National government bonds 50,994 297,888 450,282 65,407 227,914 1,080,675

      Local government bonds 20,569 29,566 19,497 35,546 24,488 17,739

      Corporate bonds 19,774 73,346 57,438 10,989 9,096 209,164

      Other 56,962 132,005 138,759 78,861 137,500 879,265

Loans and bills discounted (*) 6,085,447 2,749,089 2,268,944 1,601,921 1,663,529 3,757,222

Total ¥14,542,514 ¥3,281,896 ¥2,934,922 ¥1,792,726 ¥2,062,529 ¥5,944,067

(*) �Loans do not include an estimated ¥196,417 million in uncollect-
ible loans to Bankrupt Obligors, Effectively Bankrupt Obligors or 
In-Danger-of-Bankruptcy Obligors, and ¥220,608 million in loans 
that have no set term.

(Millions of yen)

2023

1 year or 
less

More than 1 
year but 

less than 3 
years

More than 3 
years but 

less than 5 
years

More than 5 
years but 

less than 7 
years

More than 7 
years but 

less than 10 
years

More than 
10 years

Due from banks ¥  7,512,108 ¥� — ¥� — ¥� — ¥� — ¥� —

Call loans and bills bought 18,694 — — — — —

Monetary claims bought 37,297 — — — — —

Securities

   Held-to-maturity debt securities

      National government bonds 14,374 — — — — —

      Corporate bonds 2,683 — — — — —

   Available-for-sale securities with maturities

      National government bonds 103,405 91,115 5,390 8,843 186,170 1,173,182

      Local government bonds 3,937 41,304 16,740 33,596 24,920 14,364

      Corporate bonds 63,490 46,790 57,405 4,806 4,853 230,844

      Other 64,565 105,164 160,607 74,417 125,065 614,724

Loans and bills discounted (*) 6,079,460 2,544,241 2,113,602 1,505,381 1,567,368 3,533,289

Total ¥13,900,017 ¥ 2,828,615 ¥2,353,746 ¥1,627,045 ¥1,908,377 ¥5,566,406

(*) �Loans do not include an estimated ¥188,539 million in uncollect-
ible loans to Bankrupt Obligors, Effectively Bankrupt Obligors or 
In-Danger-of-Bankruptcy Obligors, and ¥156,499 million in loans 
that have no set term.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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The payment schedule for corporate bonds, borrowed 

money and other interest-bearing liabilities at March 31, 

2024 and 2023 are summarized as follows: 
(Millions of yen)

2024

1 year or 
less

More than 1 
year but 

less than 3 
years

More than 3 
years but 

less than 5 
years

More than 5 
years but 

less than 7 
years

More than 7 
years but 

less than 10 
years

More than 
10 years

Deposits (*) ¥21,260,643 ¥� 310,043 ¥� 87,891 ¥5,633 ¥16,650 ¥� —

Call money and bills sold 2,150,000 — — — — —

Payables under repurchase agreements 264,108 52,993 — — — —

Cash collateral received for securities lent 915,202 — — — — —

Borrowed money 2,869,683 1,475,493 1,785,484 1,100 495 119

Total ¥27,459,637 ¥1,838,529 ¥1,873,375 ¥6,733 ¥17,145 ¥119

(*) Demand deposits are included in “1 year or less.”
(Millions of yen)

2023

1 year or 
less

More than 1 
year but 

less than 3 
years

More than 3 
years but 

less than 5 
years

More than 5 
years but 

less than 7 
years

More than 7 
years but 

less than 10 
years

More than 
10 years

Deposits (*) ¥20,579,691 ¥� 298,298 ¥� 65,027 ¥4,260 ¥2,173 ¥� —

Call money and bills sold 1,665,800 — — — — —

Payables under repurchase agreements 353,289 80,118 — — — —

Cash collateral received for securities lent 680,468 — — — — —

Borrowed money 795,142 3,054,329 1,100,509 1,100 — 625

Total ¥24,074,393 ¥3,432,745 ¥1,165,536 ¥5,360 ¥2,173 ¥625

(*) Demand deposits are included in “1 year or less.”

(4) �Fair value information by level within the fair value 

hierarchy

	� The fair value of financial instruments is classified into 

the following three levels according to the observability 

and materiality of inputs used to measure fair value.

	 Level 1: �Fair value measured using observable inputs 

that are quoted prices for identified assets or 

liabilities in active markets

	 Level 2: �Fair value measured using observable inputs 

other than those included within Level 1

	 Level 3: �Fair value measured using unobservable in-

puts

	� In cases where multiple inputs with a significant impact 

on the fair value measurement are used, fair value is 

classified into the level to which the input with the low-

est priority in the fair value measurement belongs.

(a) �Financial instruments carried at fair value in the con-

solidated balance sheet
(Millions of yen)

2024

Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Securities

  Available-for-sale securities

    National government bonds ¥2,173,163 ¥� — ¥� — ¥2,173,163

    Local government bonds — 147,406 — 147,406

    Corporate bonds — 348,952 39,238 388,190

    Equity securities 258,875 — — 258,875

    Foreign bonds 364,533 893,501 7,686 1,265,721

    Other (*1) 280,472 297,971 31,162 609,606

Total assets ¥3,077,044 ¥1,687,832 ¥78,088 ¥4,842,964

Derivatives (*2)

  Interest-related ¥� — ¥� 33,174 ¥� — ¥� 33,174

  Currency-related — (7,242) — (7,242)

  Credit derivatives — 340 — 340

Total derivatives ¥� — ¥� 26,272 ¥� — ¥� 26,272

(Millions of yen)

2023

Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Securities

  Available-for-sale securities

    National government bonds ¥1,568,108 ¥� — ¥� — ¥1,568,108

    Local government bonds — 134,863 — 134,863

    Corporate bonds — 379,450 42,073 421,524

    Equity securities 180,507 — — 180,507

    Foreign bonds 264,946 509,714 217,566 992,226

    Other (*1) 229,248 251,075 41,105 521,430

Total assets ¥2,242,810 ¥1,275,103 ¥300,745 ¥3,818,660

Derivatives (*2)

  Interest-related ¥� — ¥� 15,677 ¥� — ¥� 15,677

  Currency-related — (7,960) — (7,960)

  Bond-related (2) — — (2)

  Credit derivatives — 479 — 479

Total derivatives ¥� (2) ¥� 8,197 ¥� — ¥� 8,195

(*1) �Investment trusts whose unit price is deemed as fair value by ap-
plying the treatment provided for in Paragraphs 24-3 and 24-9 of 
the “Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Fair 
Value Measurement” (ASBJ Guidance No. 31, June 17, 2021) are 
not included. The carrying value of investment trusts applying the 
treatment provided for in Paragraph 24-3 as of March 31, 2024 
and 2023 was ¥15,040 million and ¥8,665 million, respectively. 
The carrying value of investment trusts applying the treatment 
provided for in Paragraph 24-9 as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 
was ¥30,539 million and ¥23,662 million, respectively.

(*2) �Derivatives indicate the sum of derivatives included within “Trading 
assets and liabilities” and “Other assets and liabilities.” Net 
amounts of receivables and payables arising from derivative 
transactions are indicated. Parentheses indicate totals that are 
net payable amounts.
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(b) �Financial instruments not carried at fair value in the 

consolidated balance sheet
(Millions of yen)

2024

Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Securities

  Held-to-maturity debt securities

    National government bonds ¥— ¥� — ¥� — ¥� —

    Corporate bonds — — — —

Loans and bills discounted —  —  18,445,599  18,445,599

Total assets ¥— ¥� — ¥18,445,599 ¥18,445,599

Deposits ¥— ¥21,681,267 ¥� — ¥21,687,267 

Borrowed money — 6,059,329 49 6,059,379

Total liabilities ¥— ¥27,740,597 ¥� 49 ¥27,740,647

(Millions of yen)

2023

Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Securities

  Held-to-maturity debt securities

    National government bonds ¥14,218 ¥� — ¥� — ¥� 14,218

    Corporate bonds — 2,744 — 2,744

Loans and bills discounted — — 17,623,354 17,623,354

Total assets ¥14,218 ¥� 2,744 ¥17,623,354 ¥17,640,317

Deposits ¥� — ¥20,949,915 ¥� — ¥20,949,915 

Borrowed money — 4,903,439 1,191 4,904,630

Total liabilities ¥� — ¥25,853,354 ¥� 1,191 ¥25,854,545

Description of the valuation techniques and inputs used 

in the fair value measurement is as follows:

Assets

Securities

The fair value of securities with an unadjusted quoted 

prices in active markets available is classified as Level 1. 

This mainly includes listed equity securities and national 

government bonds. Even if there is a published quoted 

price, in cases such as when the market is not active, fair 

value is classified as Level 2. This mainly includes local 

government bonds and corporate bonds. For investment 

trusts with no transaction price in markets, if there are no 

material restrictions causing market participants to de-

mand compensation for risk of cancellation or claims for 

repurchases, fair value is based on the trusts’ unit price, 

and is classified as Level 2.

The fair value of securities with no quoted price avail-

able is determined based on the present value calculated 

by discounting estimated future cash flows generated 

from each transaction at a discount rate, that is a market 

interest rate plus factors such as credit risk based on an 

expected loss rate by obligors’ classification in accor-

dance with internal rating, and is classified as Level 3.

Loans and bills discounted

The fair value of loans and bills discounted is determined 

principally based on the present value calculated by dis-

counting estimated future cash flows generated from each 

transaction at a discount rate, that is a market interest 

rate plus factors such as credit risk based on an expected 

loss rate by loan type and obligors’ classification in ac-

cordance with internal rating, and is classified as Level 3. 

In estimating future cash flows of loans with floating inter-

est rates, which reflect market interest rates within a short 

period of time, the next interest due date is considered 

the maturity date.

With regard to claims to Bankrupt Obligors, Effective-

ly Bankrupt Obligors or In-Danger-of-Bankruptcy Obli-

gors, an estimated loss amount is based on either a 

present value of estimated future cash flows or an amount 

expected to be collected through collateral and guaran-

tees, and therefore fair value approximates carrying value 

of claims, etc. at the balance sheet date less allowance 

for loan losses and such amount is used as fair value, 

which is classified as Level 3.

For loans that have no specific repayment period be-

cause loan amounts are limited to the value of assets 

pledged as collateral, fair value approximates book value 

considering their expected repayment periods and inter-

est conditions, therefore book value is used as fair value, 

which is classified as Level 3.

Liabilities

Deposits

The fair value of demand deposits is determined by the 

payment amount (book value) if demanded on the balance 

sheet date. The fair value of time deposits is based on the 

present value calculated by discounting estimated future 

cash flows, classified by certain periods of time, at an in-

terest rate used when accepting new deposits, and is 

classified as Level 2. 

Borrowed money

The fair value of borrowed money is based on the present 

value calculated by discounting estimated future cash 

flows generated from each transaction at a discount rate, 

that is a market interest rate plus factors such as FFG’s 

credit risk estimated from bonds with a market price, etc. 

In cases where the amount of unobservable inputs has a 

significant impact on the fair value, the fair value is classi-

fied as Level 3, otherwise it is classified as Level 2. In es-

timating future cash flows of borrowed money with 

floating interest rates, which reflect market interest rates 

within a short period of time, the next interest due date is 

considered the maturity date.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Bonds payable

The fair value of corporate bonds issued by FFG and its 

consolidated subsidiaries with a market price is based on 

the market price. The fair value of corporate bonds with 

no market price is based on the present value calculated 

by discounting estimated future cash flows generated 

from each transaction at a discount rate, that is a market 

interest rate plus certain factors such as FFG’s credit risk 

estimated from bonds with a market price, etc. The fair 

value of corporate bonds with a market price is classified 

as Level 2 while that with no market price is classified as 

Level 3. In estimating future cash flows of corporate 

bonds with floating interest rates, which reflect market in-

terest rates within a short period of time, the next interest 

due date is considered the maturity date.

Derivatives

The fair value of derivatives with an unadjusted quoted 

price in active markets available is classified as Level 1. 

This includes bond futures and interest rate futures.

However, as most of derivatives are over-the-counter 

transactions and there is no published quoted price, fair 

value is calculated using valuation techniques such as the 

discounted present value method and option pricing mod-

els depending on the transaction type and the period to 

maturity. The main inputs used in these techniques are 

market interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and 

volatility. In addition, price adjustments based on counter-

parties’ credit risk and FFG’s own credit risk are made. 

In cases where unobservable inputs are not used or 

their impact is immaterial, fair value is classified as Level 

2. In addition, in cases where significant unobservable in-

puts are used, fair value is classified as Level 3.

Information about Level 3 fair value of financial instru-

ments carried at fair value in the consolidated balance 

sheet is as follows:

(a) �Quantitative information on significant unobservable 

inputs
2024

Valuation 
techniques

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
Scope of inputs

Weighted 
average 
of inputs

Securities

  �Available-for-sale 
securities

    �Corporate 
bonds

      �Private 
placement 
bonds and 
specified 
bonds

Discounted 
present 
value 
method

Default 
probability 0.05%-7.15% 0.31%

Bankruptcy 
loss ratio 20.00%-100.00% 83.22%

  Foreign bonds

    �Yen-
denominated 
securitization

Discounted 
present 
value 
method

Default 
probability 0.05% 0.05%

2023

Valuation 
techniques

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
Scope of inputs

Weighted 
average 
of inputs

Securities
  �Available-for-sale 

securities
    �Corporate 

bonds
      �Private 

placement 
bonds and 
specified 
bonds

Discounted 
present 
value 
method

Default 
probability 0.05%-16.82% 0.40%

Bankruptcy 
loss ratio 20.00%-100.00% 81.62%

  Foreign bonds

   �Yen-
denominated 
securitization

Discounted 
present 
value 
method

Default 
probability 0.05% 0.05%

(b) �Reconciliation from the beginning balance to the end-

ing balance and valuation gains (losses) recognized
(Millions of yen)

2024

Balance at 
the 

beginning 
of the fiscal 

year

Gains (losses) or other 
comprehensive income 

for the fiscal year Purchase, 
sale, 

issuance 
and 

settlement, 
net

Transfer 
into 

Level 3

Transfer 
out of 

Level 3 
(*3)

Balance at 
the end of 
the fiscal 

year

Valuation gains 
(losses) of financial 

assets and 
financial liabilities 
held at the fiscal 

year-end included 
in gains (losses) for 

the fiscal year

Recorded 
in gains 

(losses) (*1)

Recorded 
in other 
compre-
hensive 

income (*2)
Securities
   �Available-for-sale 

securities
      �Corporate bonds ¥  42,073 ¥27 ¥  (39) ¥(2,428) ¥— ¥� (395) ¥39,238 ¥—
      Foreign bonds 217,566 0 47 6,843 — (216,770) 7,686 —

      Other 41,105 (1) (179) (9,761) — — 31,162 —

(Millions of yen)

2023

Balance at 
the 

beginning 
of the fiscal 

year

Gains (losses) or other 
comprehensive income 

for the fiscal year Purchase, 
sale, 

issuance 
and 

settlement, 
net

Transfer 
into 

Level 3

Transfer 
out of 

Level 3

Balance at 
the end of 
the fiscal 

year

Valuation gains 
(losses) of financial 

assets and 
financial liabilities 
held at the fiscal 

year-end included 
in gains (losses) for 

the fiscal year

Recorded 
in gains 

(losses) (*1)

Recorded 
in other 
compre-
hensive 

income (*2)
Securities
   �Available-for-sale 

securities
      �Corporate bonds ¥  48,329 ¥    (17) ¥   (202) ¥  (6,036) ¥— ¥— ¥42,073 ¥—
      Foreign bonds 114,091 7,463 (2,172) 98,183 — — 217,566 —

      Other 56,136 (34) (255) (14,740) — — 41,105 —

(*1) �Included mainly in “Other operating income” and “Other operat-
ing expenses” in the consolidated statement of income.

(*2) �Included in “Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities” 
under “Other comprehensive income” in the consolidated state-
ment of comprehensive income.

(*3) �Transferred from Level 3 to Level 2 because observable inputs 
have become available. The transfers were made at the beginning 
of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024.

(c) �Description of valuation processes used for the fair 

value measurement

In FFG, the Risk Management Department (middle office) 

and the Market Operations Management Department 

(back office) establish policies and procedures for the fair 

value measurement and each department measures fair 

value accordingly. Each department verifies the appropri-

ateness of the valuation techniques and inputs used to 

calculate fair value and the appropriateness of the classi-

fication of fair value levels.

In measuring fair value, FFG uses a valuation model 

that most appropriately reflects the nature, characteristics 

and risks of each financial instrument. In addition, when 
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using quoted prices obtained from third parties, FFG veri-

fies the appropriateness of the prices by using appropriate 

methods, such as checking the valuation techniques and 

inputs used, carrying out time-series analysis of prices, 

and comparing them with estimates calculated by FFG.

(d) �Description of sensitivity of the fair value measurement 

to changes in significant unobservable inputs

Default probability

Default probability represents an estimate of the likelihood 

of a bankruptcy event occurring. A significant rise (de-

cline) in default probability will lead to a significant decline 

(rise) in fair value.

Bankruptcy loss ratio

Bankruptcy loss ratio represents an estimated rate of the 

loss expected to be incurred in the event of bankruptcy 

against the total bonds outstanding. A significant rise (de-

cline) in bankruptcy loss ratio will lead to a significant de-

cline (rise) in fair value.

18. Derivative Transactions

FFG has entered into various derivative transactions in or-

der to manage certain risks arising from adverse fluctua-

tions in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates 

and debt security prices.

Information regarding the derivative transactions out-

standing as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 was as follows:

Hedge accounting not applied

As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, on derivative transac-

tions to which hedge accounting is not applied, notional 

amounts as of the balance sheet date, fair values and 

gains (losses) as well as the method of measuring these 

fair values are described below.

The notional amounts of derivative transactions are 

not a direct measure of the FFG’s market risk exposure in 

connection with its derivative transactions.

◾ Interest-related transactions
(Millions of yen)

As of March 31, 2024
Notional 
amount

Fair value
Gains 

(Losses)
Interest rate swaps
   Receive/fixed and pay/floating ¥270,187 ¥(5,614) ¥(5,719)
   Receive/floating and pay/fixed 270,187 7,824 7,892
Other
   Sell 2,668 (50) 45
   Buy 2,668 48 (33)
   Total — ¥ 2,208 ¥ 2,184

(Millions of yen)

As of March 31, 2023
Notional 
amount

Fair value
Gains 

(Losses)
Interest rate swaps
   Receive/fixed and pay/floating ¥260,720 ¥(4,249) ¥(4,305)
   Receive/floating and pay/fixed 260,720 6,414 6,451
Other
   Sell 1,000 (24) 18
   Buy 1,000 24 (9)
   Total — ¥ 2,165 ¥ 2,155

◾ Currency-related transactions
(Millions of yen)

As of March 31, 2024
Notional 
amount

Fair value
Gains 

(Losses)

Currency swaps ¥771,106 ¥� (29) ¥� (31)

Foreign exchange contract

   Sell 224,188 (9,633) (9,633)

   Buy 107,033 9,431 9,431

Currency option

   Sell — — —

   Buy — — —

   Total — ¥� (231) ¥� (233)

(Millions of yen)

As of March 31, 2023
Notional 
amount

Fair value
Gains 

(Losses)

Currency swaps ¥660,741 ¥� 0 ¥� (1)

Foreign exchange contract

   Sell 143,404 (4,260) (4,260)

   Buy 107,224 4,370 4,370

Currency option

   Sell 4 (0) (0)

   Buy 4 0 0

   Total — ¥� 109 ¥� 107

◾ Bond–related transactions

As of March 31, 2024, there were no transactions to be 

disclosed.

(Millions of yen)

As of March 31, 2023
Notional 
amount

Fair value
Gains 

(Losses)

Bond futures

   Sell ¥100 ¥(2) ¥(2)

   Buy — — —

   Total — ¥(2) ¥(2)

◾ Credit derivative transactions
(Millions of yen)

As of March 31, 2024
Notional 
amount

Fair value
Gains 

(Losses)

Credit default swaps

   Sell ¥21,000 ¥340 ¥334

   Buy — — —

   Total — ¥340 ¥334

(Millions of yen)

As of March 31, 2023
Notional 
amount

Fair value
Gains 

(Losses)

Credit default swaps

   Sell ¥39,000 ¥479 ¥466

   Buy — — —

   Total — ¥479 ¥466

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Hedge accounting applied

As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, on derivative transactions 

to which hedge accounting is applied, hedge accounting 

method, hedged items, notional amounts as of the balance 

sheet date and fair values as well as the method of mea-

suring these fair values are described below.

	 The notional amounts of derivative transactions are 

not a direct measure of the FFG’s market risk exposure in 

connection with its derivative transactions.

◾ Interest-related transactions
(Millions of yen)

As of March 31, 2024

Hedge
accounting

method

Transaction 
type

Principal hedged items
Notional 
amount

Fair value

Deferred
hedge
accounting

Interest rate 
swaps

Interest bearing financial 
assets and liabilities of 
which, loans, available-
for-sale securities, and 

deposits

Receive/
fixed and 
pay/floating

¥7,412,500 ¥(18,370)

Receive/
floating and 
pay/fixed

1,490,467  49,335

Interest rate 
swaps with 
exceptional 
accounting

Interest rate 
swaps

Interest bearing financial 
assets and liabilities of 
which, loans, held-to-

maturity debt securities, 
and deposits

Receive/
floating and 
pay/fixed

— —

Total — ¥ 30,965

(Millions of yen)

As of March 31, 2023

Hedge
accounting

method

Transaction 
type

Principal hedged items
Notional 
amount

Fair value

Deferred
hedge
accounting

Interest rate 
swaps

Interest bearing financial 
assets and liabilities of 
which, loans, available-
for-sale securities, and 

deposits

Receive/
fixed and 
pay/floating

¥4,891,100 ¥ (3,056)

Receive/
floating and 
pay/fixed

1,068,361  16,437

Interest rate 
swaps with 
exceptional 
accounting

Interest rate 
swaps

Interest bearing financial 
assets and liabilities of 
which, loans, held-to-

maturity debt securities, 
and deposits

Receive/
floating and 
pay/fixed

16,700 131

Total — ¥13,512

◾ Currency-related transactions
 (Millions of yen)

As of March 31, 2024

Hedge
accounting

method

Transaction 
type

Principal hedged items
Notional 
amount

Fair value

Deferred
hedge
accounting

Currency 
swaps

Financial assets and 
liabilities of which, loans, 
securities and deposits 
denominated in foreign 
currencies, and foreign 
exchange assets and 

liabilities

¥1,271,729 ¥(7,008)

Allocation 
method

Currency 
swaps

Loans denominated in 
foreign currencies

1,126 (2)

Total — ¥(7,010)

(Millions of yen)

As of March 31, 2023

Hedge
accounting

method

Transaction 
type

Principal hedged items
Notional 
amount

Fair value

Deferred
hedge
accounting

Currency 
swaps

Financial assets and 
liabilities of which, loans, 
securities and deposits 
denominated in foreign 
currencies, and foreign 
exchange assets and 

liabilities

¥987,504 ¥(8,087)

Allocation 
method

Currency 
swaps

Loans denominated in 
foreign currencies

503 17

Total — ¥(8,069)

19. Business Integration

Business integration between FFG and Fukuoka  

Chuo Bank

Effective October 1, 2023, FFG implemented a share ex-

change in which FFG became the wholly owing parent 

company and Fukuoka Chuo Bank became the wholly 

owned subsidiary.

(1) Overview of business integration

(a) �Name and business description of the acquired 

company 

	 Company name: THE FUKUOKA CHUO BANK, LTD.

	 Business description: Banking business

(b) Reason for the business integration

	� Through the business integration, FFG and Fukuoka 

Chuo Bank will contribute to the sustainable develop-

ment of local economy by further leveraging their col-

lective strengths as a group and supporting an entire 

range of regional customers.

(c) Date of the business integration

	 October 1, 2023

(d) Legal form of the business integration

	 Share exchange

(e) Company name following the business integration

	� The company name has not been changed following 

the business integration.

(f) Percentage of voting rights acquired

Before the share exchange 14.81%

Additional acquisition on the date of the business integration 85.19%

After the acquisition 100.00%

(g) Principal basis for determining the acquirer 

	� This was determined based on the fact that FFG ac-

quired the acquired company’s entire voting rights.

(2) �Period in which the acquired company’s business re-

sults are reflected in the consolidated financial state-

ments

	 From October 1, 2023 to March 31, 2024
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(3) �Acquisition cost of the acquired company and its 

breakdown by type of consideration
(Millions of yen)

Fair value of Fukuoka Chuo Bank’s common stock, which 
the Group owned immediately before the share ex-
change, on the date of the business integration

¥1,166

Fair value of Fukuoka Chuo Bank’s First Series Class A 
preferred stock, which the Group owned immediately be-
fore the share exchange, on the date of the business in-
tegration

300

Fair value of FFG’s common stock deemed as being de-
livered by FFG on the date of the business integration

7,579

Acquisition cost ¥9,045

(4) �Share exchange ratio by class of shares, and its cal-

culation method and the number of shares delivered

(a) Share exchange ratio by class of shares

(i) Common stock

	� FFG’s common stock of 0.81 shares were allotted and 

delivered for each share of Fukuoka Chuo Bank’s com-

mon stock. 

(ii) First Series Class A preferred stock

	� FFG’s common stock of 2.71 shares were allotted and 

delivered for each share of Fukuoka Chuo Bank’s First 

Series Class A preferred stock. 

(b) Calculation method of the share exchange ratio

(i) Common stock

	� The exchange ratio was calculated upon consultation 

among the related parties based on the reports sub-

mitted by several financial advisors. 

(ii) First Series Class A preferred stock

	� The number of shares allotted of FFG’s common stock 

delivered as consideration for one share of Fukuoka 

Chuo Bank’s First Series Class A preferred stock was 

calculated using the floating exchange ratio method. In 

this method, the exchange ratio was calculated by fix-

ing the value of Fukuoka Chuo Bank’s First Series 

Class A preferred stock when determining the share 

exchange, and dividing the fixed value by the average 

share price of FFG’s common stock over a certain pe-

riod of time immediately before the effective date.

	�		   The “certain period of time immediately before the 

effective date” refers to each of the trading days (ex-

cluding non-trading days) during the 10 days from 

September 4, 2023 to September 15, 2023.

(c) Number of shares delivered

	 Common stock of 2,117,753 shares

(5) �Description and amount of expenses related to the 

acquisition

	 Advisory fees, etc. of ¥79 million 

(6) �Difference between the acquisition cost of the ac-

quired company and the total acquisition cost by 

transaction for reaching the acquisition

	 Loss on step acquisitions of ¥231 million

(7) �Amount of gain on negative goodwill recognized and 

reason thereof

(a) Amount of gain on negative goodwill: ¥21,496 million

(b) �Reason: As the acquisition cost was less than the net 

amount allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities 

assumed, their difference was recognized as gain on 

negative goodwill.

(8) �Details of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on 

the business integration date
(Millions of yen)

Total assets ¥577,217

   Of which, loans and bills discounted 402,106

   Of which, securities 90,947

Total liabilities 546,787

   Of which, deposits 513,860

(9) Impact on the consolidated statement of income

The impact on the consolidated statement of income for 

the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 assuming that the 

business integration had completed on April 1, 2023 is 

not presented because it is immaterial.

20. Segment Information

The FFG’s reportable segment is composed of only the 

banking business. Segment information has been omitted 

because businesses other than the banking business 

were immaterial for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 

and 2023.

Information on income by service has been omitted 

because income from the banking business accounted for 

more than 90% of ordinary income in the consolidated 

statement of income for the fiscal years ended March 31, 

2024 and 2023.

Information on income by geographic area has been 

omitted because income from Japanese customers ac-

counted for more than 90% of ordinary income in the 

consolidated statement of income for the fiscal years 

ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

Information on tangible fixed assets by geographic 

area has been omitted because total tangible fixed assets 

of the domestic operations constituted more than 90% of 

the consolidated total tangible fixed assets at March 31, 

2024 and 2023.

Information on income by major customer has been 

omitted because no ordinary income derived from any ex-

ternal customer amounted to 10% or more of ordinary in-

come in the consolidated statement of income for the 

fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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21. Related Party Transactions

There were no significant transactions with related parties 

to report for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 

2023.

22. Subsequent Events

Cash dividends

The following distribution of retained earnings of FFG, 

which has not been reflected in the accompanying consol-

idated financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 

31, 2024, was approved at a shareholders meeting held on 

June 27, 2024 and became effective on June 28, 2024:
(Millions of yen)

Dividends on common stock (¥57.50 per share) ¥10,885
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Non-Consolidated Balance Sheet (Unaudited)
The Bank of Fukuoka, Ltd.
As of March 31, 2024 and 2023

2024 2023 2024

Millions of yen Millions of yen
Millions of 

U.S. dollars

Assets

Cash and due from banks ¥  5,371,979 ¥  5,879,585 $  35,479

Call loans 678,679 654,934 4,482

Cash collateral provided for securities borrowed 330,325 — 2,181

Monetary claims bought 21,961 21,981 145

Trading assets 115 313 0

Money held in trust 3,160 3,114 20

Securities 3,221,023 2,552,656 21,273

Loans and bills discounted 11,793,792 11,635,392 77,893

Foreign exchanges 6,175 14,396 40

Other assets 295,148 207,745 1,949

Tangible fixed assets 145,322 144,457 959

Intangible fixed assets 11,881 9,596 78

Prepaid pension expenses 21,473 17,404 141

Deferred tax assets 1,593 19,476 10

Customers' liabilities for acceptances and guarantees 38,441 40,911 253

Allowance for loan losses (104,104) (103,791) (687)

Total assets ¥21,836,970 ¥21,098,175 $144,224

Liabilities

Deposits ¥13,961,424 ¥13,714,425 $  92,209

Call money 2,150,795 2,520,805 14,205

Payables under repurchase agreements 317,101 433,407 2,094

Cash collateral received for securities lent 662,081 480,067 4,372

Trading liabilities — 2 —

Borrowed money 3,724,794 3,059,320 24,600

Foreign exchanges 2,087 630 13

Other liabilities 238,429 163,475 1,574

Provision for losses from reimbursement of inactive accounts 2,118 2,587 13

Provision for share awards 64 32 0

Deferred tax liabilities for land revaluation 22,867 22,911 151

Acceptances and guarantees 38,441 40,911 253

Total liabilities ¥21,120,206 ¥20,438,578 $139,490

Net assets

Capital stock ¥       82,329 ¥       82,329 $       543

Capital surplus 60,480 60,480 399

Retained earnings 463,896 447,311 3,063

Total shareholders’ equity 606,707 590,121 4,007

Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities 42,556 10,762 281

Deferred gains or losses on hedges 16,219 7,331 107

Revaluation reserve for land 51,280 51,382 338

Total valuation and translation adjustments 110,056 69,475 726

Total net assets ¥     716,763 ¥     659,597 $    4,733

Total liabilities and net assets ¥21,836,970 ¥21,098,175 $144,224
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Non-Consolidated Statement of Income (Unaudited)
The Bank of Fukuoka, Ltd.
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023

2024 2023 2024

Millions of yen Millions of yen
Millions of 

U.S. dollars

Income

Interest income:

Interest on loans and discounts ¥127,014 ¥113,872 $   838

Interest and dividends on securities 64,636 38,786 426

Interest on call loans 868 226 5

Interest on receivables under resale agreements (0) (0) (0)

Interest on cash collateral provided for securities borrowed 19 11 0

Interest on deposits with banks 0 0 0

Interest on interest swaps 16,646 3,811 109

Other interest income 12,138 9,680 80

Trust fees 0 0 0

Fees and commissions 43,570 40,204 287

Trading income 10 7 0

Other operating income 3,080 14,970 20

Other income 4,634 4,200 30

Total income ¥272,620 ¥225,772 $1,800

Expenses

Interest expenses:

Interest on deposits ¥  12,947 ¥    5,733 $     85

Interest on call money (874) (644) (5)

Interest on payables under repurchase agreements 5,352 1,774 35

Interest on cash collateral received for securities lent 30,082 12,718 198

Interest on borrowing and rediscounts 4,848 2,319 32

Interest on interest swaps 35,614 19,624 235

Other interest expenses 685 503 4

Fees and commissions payments 22,564 21,449 149

Other operating expenses 19,427 38,737 128

General and administrative expenses 67,062 64,647 442

Other expenses 10,672 6,132 70

Total expenses ¥208,383 ¥172,995 $1,376

Income before income taxes 64,236 52,776 424

Income taxes:

Current 14,738 9,025 97

Deferred 1,059 4,724 6

Total income taxes 15,798 13,749 104

Net income ¥  48,438 ¥  39,027 $   319
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